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The Mid West Development Commission acknowledges the Yamatji people as the traditional 
owners of the Mid West region.

This includes the Amangu, Nhanhagardi, Wilinyu, Naaguja, Badimia,  Widi, Nanda, Wadjarri, 
Mullewa Wadjarri, and Yugunga-Nya people.

We recognise their continuing connection to land, waters and community and pay our 
respects to them and their cultures, and to Elders; past, present and emerging.

Acknowledgement of Country

Welcome
The Mid West Development Commission annual report is an important tool used to ensure transparency 
and accountability to Parliament, our stakeholders and the community.

It is an account of our achievements during the reporting period and an insight into what we do, 
how we work and how we are enabling development opportunities to transform the region for better 
economic, social and environmental outcomes.

Enquiries and feedback
Making our annual report transparent, accurate and relevant is important to us, so we welcome 
feedback.

Phone: +61 (0)8 9956 8555
Email:  info@mwdc.wa.gov.au

Online report
To reduce printing costs and environmental impact, this report has been published in PDF format and is 
available to download from our website. 
 
As publishers of this report the Commission makes every reasonable effort to ensure the accuracy of all information 
in the report. Nevertheless, we are unable to guarantee the accuracy of all information contained. We take no 
responsibility and will not be liable either in contract for negligence or in any other way for any errors, act or 
omissions, which may occur in relation to the report.
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Rob Houwen 
Chair 
6 September 2022

Nils Hay 
Acting Chief Executive Officer
6 September 2022

Statement of Compliance
For year ended 30 June 2022

Hon. Alannah MacTiernan MLC
Minister for Regional Development

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your 
information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Mid West Development 
Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

The Mid West Development Commission was established under the Regional Development 
Commissions Act 1993.

In the performance of its functions, the Mid West Development Commission complies with the 
following relevant written laws.

• Disability Services Act 1993
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Freedom of Information Act 1992
• Industrial Relations Act 1979
• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
• Work Health and Safety Act 2020 
• Public Sector Management Act 1994
• Regional Development Commissions Act 1993
• Royalties for Regions Act 2009
• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
• State Records Act 2000
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

The Commission also administers the following related Acts.

• Geraldton Foreshore and Marina Development Act 1990
• Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial Institute Act 1929
• Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial Institute Enabling Act 1934
• Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial Institute (Trust Property Disposition) Act 1938

In the financial administration of the Mid West Development Commission, we have complied with 
the requirements of the Financial Management Act 2006 and every other relevant written law, and 
exercised controls which provide reasonable assurance that the receipt and expenditure of monies and 
the acquisition and disposal of public property and incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions. At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render 
the particulars in this statement misleading or inaccurate.

FINANCIALSCONTENTS OVERVIEW OUR PEOPLE PERFORMANCE

MID WEST DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION4



From the Chair      6

The Mid West Region     7

About us       10

Responsible Minister      10

Organisational Structure    13

Our Board       14

Performance Management Framework  16

5ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22

OVERVIEW 
OF THE AGENCY



From the Chair
Stepping into the role of Chair for the 
Commission this year has allowed me to 
appreciate the achievements and potential of the 
Mid West like never before.

The region is at the start of a substantial 
economic growth process, driven by mining and 
agriculture, supported with tourism, an emerging 
space economy and advanced manufacturing 
industry and encouraged by a developing 
hydrogen industry that will draw us into the 
global economy.

Over the 2021-22 financial year, the Commission 
worked in partnership with key industry and 
government representatives to make significant 
headway in these industries, recognising that we 
have a strong base in the Mid West with many 
competitive advantages.

The Commission recognises that a high level 
of liveability and connectivity is critical towards 
ensuring that the Mid West is competitive as 
an investment and lifestyle destination, focused 
on working with State and Federal Government 
and regional stakeholders to improve access 
to education and health services, maximise 
opportunities, and enhance quality of life. 

In order to build key sector capacity and to 
cater for community and regional growth, the 
Commission continues to play a lead role working 
across industry and government to support the 
delivery of greater housing choice.

Mining remains the most significant economic 
generator for the Mid West economy. The 
resources sector is expected to remain a mainstay 
driver of the Mid West regional economy for 
some time. Growth is anticipated across a range 
of resource sectors including gold, magnetite, 
vanadium and lead/silver.

Enabling infrastructure (such as transport, water, 
power, communications, land corridor access) 
will also play a key role in unlocking project 
potential. The Commission has worked with key 
agencies and stakeholders to identify current 
infrastructure constraints and jointly scoped 
projects to fill these gaps.

The Commission has provided a central 
point of coordination and contact for various 
economic development and community 
stakeholders within and outside the Mid West. 
The agency worked in partnership with all tiers 
of government, business and the community, 
providing information and advice to maximise 
economic development and employment 
opportunities for the region.

While my tenure during the reporting period has 
been short, I have thoroughly enjoyed discovering 
the role, leading a fantastic young Board of 
regional representatives, and understanding the 
breadth of the Commission’s work.

I am excited to lead the Commission through a 
transformational stage, where it will play a pivotal 
role in enabling development opportunities and 
transforming the Mid West region for better 
economic, social and environmental outcomes. 

I see huge possibilities and will undertake guiding 
how we are going to manage what is coming, 
while keeping the balance of, and harnessing 
opportunities.

Rob Houwen, Chair
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The Mid West Region
The Mid West region spans around 285,000km2 

and is home to 51,980 people (2021 Estimated 
Resident Population), with around 80% residing 
along the region’s coastline. 

The region’s 16 local governments are 
notionally divided into three subregions that 
reflect similarities of environment, land use, 
demography, industry and issues: namely the 
Batavia Coast, Murchison and North Midlands. 

The region’s capital city is Geraldton.  With its 
population dominance (more than 73% of the 
region), diverse industrial port, key tertiary 
education and health facilities and presence of 
key government agencies, the city has a strong 
and increasingly important relationship with 
communities throughout the region. 

Around 9% of the region’s population identify 
as Aboriginal, across over seven discrete 
language groups. 

The region starts less than 250km north of the 
State’s capital city of Perth and stretches from 
the iconic coastline between Green Head and 
Kalbarri, north and east through fertile agricultural 
areas and into productive pastoral country and 
the resource-rich Southern Rangelands as far as 
Meekatharra and Sandstone.

Being strategically located, proximal to 
Perth and traversed by to key road, rail, air 
and maritime transport routes and pipeline 
infrastructure, provides the Mid West with a host 
of different social and economic opportunities.  
The Mid West Development Commission has an 
integral role to realise this potential.

The Mid West is arguably now the most 
diverse regional economy in Western Australia.  
Traditionally dominated by agriculture and 
fishing, mining now leads the region’s economic 
mix after significant growth and external 
investment over the past two decades. 

This capitalises on one of the most varied mineral 
provinces in the nation, with significant new 
opportunities in sectors including renewable 
energy, hydrogen and space.

The estimated Gross Regional Product (GRP) for 
the Mid West was $7.024 billion in 2021.  

Construction, manufacturing, logistics and various 
population servicing sectors (including health and 
education) are all now well represented across the 
region’s diverse and balanced industry profile. 

This diversity has helped the region navigate 
the recent economic challenges experienced 
across WA. 

Mining represented 11.4% of jobs in the Mid 
West, with agriculture, forestry and fishing now 
second (9.2%) and construction now third (9.0%).  
(Note; this profile has changed significantly from 
previous years due to the transfer of the Shire of 
Wiluna to the Goldfields-Esperance region in 2021.)  

The Commission invested heavily into strategic 
infrastructure between 2011 and 2017 through 
implementation of its Mid West Investment Plan.

This infrastructure helped stimulate and support 
economic activity across the region and provided 
a much-needed boost to social infrastructure and 
amenity, particularly in hinterland communities. 

More recently, the Commission’s focus has 
trended towards further development of 
strategic tourism priorities (for example, the 
Abrolhos Islands, Pink Lake and Lucky Bay, and 
the Murchison GeoRegion), primary industry 
diversification (for example, aquaculture, 
horticulture and pastoral revitalisation), economic 
infrastructure enhancement (for example, digital 
connectivity, energy and water), renewable 
hydrogen opportunities and food industries.

Going forward, the Commission will increasingly 
focus on major projects that stand to draw 
significant new employment and investment to 
the region – particularly where these projects are 
in proximity to one another and have cumulative 
impacts (positive and negative).  

The Commission will continue its enabling 
role with a focus on new opportunities and 
helping remove barriers to development, whilst 
continuing to strive for high standards of living 
across the region.
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2021-22 Snapshot

Gross 
Regional  
Product

Estimated 
Resident 
Population

Total jobs  
in the  
Mid West

Live and 
work in the  
Mid West

Indigenous 
population

$7.024 billion

51,980

23,939

20,212

9.3%

Mining 
$4.97 billion 

9,341 jobs

Construction 
$1.39 billion 
2,144 jobs

Agriculture and 
fishing 

$1.07 billion 
2,200 jobs

Health care and 
social assistance 

$463 million 
2,666 jobs
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Three subregions - 16 local governments

Murchison
• Cue
• Meekatharra
• Mount Magnet
• Murchison 
• Sandstone 
• Yalgoo

Batavia Coast
• Chapman Valley
• Greater Geraldton
• Irwin
• Northampton
 

North Midlands
• Carnamah
• Coorow
• Mingenew
• Morawa
• Perenjori
• Three Springs
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About Us 
The Mid West Development Commission is a 
statutory authority of the Western Australian 
State Government and is one of nine Regional 
Development Commissions, functioning under 
the provisions of the Regional Development 
Commissions Act (1993).

Responsible to the Minister for Regional 
Development, the Commission has a 
Chief Executive Officer and team of staff located 
in the Mid West who are overseen by a Board 
of management, inclusive of community 
representatives, local government members and 
Ministerial appointments.

What we do

The Commission’s role is to coordinate and 
promote economic and social development 
in the Mid West to maximise prosperity and 
well-being for the region. The Commission 
achieves this by providing the regional link 
between government policy and planning and 
regional aspirations and needs.

How we work
The Commission works to make the Mid West 
an even better place to live, work, study, invest 
and visit by developing and supporting initiatives 
that align with our strategic themes. We work 
in collaboration with businesses, agencies, local 
government authorities and the community to 
achieve outcomes under these priority areas.

Enabling Legislation
The Commission was established under the 
Regional Development Commissions Act (1993).

The objects of the Commission under the Act are:

• Maximising job creation and improving career 
opportunities in the region;

• Developing and broadening the economic 
base of the region;

• Identifying infrastructure services to promote 
economic and social development within 
the region;

• Providing information and advice to promote 
business development within the region;

• Seeking to ensure that the general standard 
of government services and access to those 
services in the region is comparable to that 
which applies in the metropolitan area; and

• Taking steps to encourage, promote, facilitate 
and monitor the economic development in 
the region.

Responsible Minister

The Commission is responsible to, the  
Hon. Alannah MacTiernan MLC., Minister for 
Regional Development.

The Minister has powers to direct the Commission, 
either generally or with respect to a particular 
matter, on the exercise and performance of 
its powers, functions and duties under the 
Regional Development Commissions Act (1993).

FINANCIALSCONTENTS OVERVIEW OUR PEOPLE PERFORMANCE

MID WEST DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION10



11ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22



FINANCIALSCONTENTS OVERVIEW OUR PEOPLE PERFORMANCE

MID WEST DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION12



Organisational Structure
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Minister for Regional Development;
Agriculture and Food; Hydrogen Industries

Hon Alannah MacTiernan MLC

Mid West Development Commission Board
Rob Houwen - Chair

Chief Executive Offi cer
Anne Finlay (Acting)

Director Regional Development
Mike Bowley

Principal Regional Development Offi cer
Adam Murszewski

Senior Regional Development Offi cer
Alex MacKenzie

Administration / Finance Offi cer
Kris Nestoridis

Regional Director
Fleur Coaker (to 30 September 2022)

Principal Local Content Advisor
Tony Emmott

Digital Economy
Robert Smallwood

DPIRD Central Resources

Project Support Offi cer (Graduate)
Vu Phan

Senior Regional Development Offi cer
Jose Silva (to 29 July 2022)

Senior Regional Development Offi cer
Vacant

Senior Regional Development Offi cer
Beth Brady

Senior Executive Assistant
Kylie Paine

Project Support Offi cer (Graduate)
Vacant

Communications Adviser
Hayley Smythe

Fixed Term Contracts

Our Team
• We are a diverse team, with diverse 

backgrounds and skill sets.  
• We are a group who live in, and are passionate 

about our region. 
• We enjoy the great lifestyle of the Mid West
• Because our remit is broad, it’s interesting and 

varied work that can make a real difference to 
the people and future of our region.
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Hayley Wells
Board Member

Hayley oversees the general management of Dongara-based distillery, 
Illegal Tender Rum Co and associated restaurant, The Common Place.  
Hayley plays an active role in our tourism and food industries, as a 
member of industry representative bodies, Tourism Geraldton Mid West 
and Mid West Food Industry Alliance. 

She is also a dedicated community member, fulfilling roles such as 
Councillor for the Shire of Irwin and volunteer officer and vice chair of the 
committee for St John Ambulance in Dongara.  Hayley was a Community 
appointment to the Board in 2000.

Rob Houwen
Chair

Rob is the Dealer Principal of Geraldton Toyota and the Chair of Midwest 
Community Enterprises Limited, which operates the Geraldton branch of 
Bendigo Community Bank.  

He has previously served as President of the Mid West Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry, President of the Rotary Club of 
Geraldton Greenough, and President of the Brigades Football Club.  
Rob is a long-term Geraldton local and has deep connection to the 
Mid West community.  Rob commenced his tenure as Chair in 2022 as a 
Ministerial appointment.

Emma Foulkes-Taylor
Board Member

Emma and her family live on a station in the Shire of Murchison, for 
which she has been a Councillor since 2015.  Emma is an active member 
in both the Murchison and Mullewa communities, with executive roles 
in several community groups.  From tutoring her own children through 
School of the Air, Emma has a strong interest in rural education. 

She was President of the Isolated Children’s Parents’ Association (ICPA) 
of WA from 2008-2011 and a co-founder of the ICPA Midwest Branch, of 
which she was President for six years.  Emma was a Local Government 
appointment to the Board in 2020.

Our Board
The Mid West Development Commission Board is responsible for setting the Commission’s strategic 
direction.  As a governing board, it guides and directs the Commission, sets performance goals, ensures 
corporate compliance and management accountability, endorses strategic plans and approves operating 
budgets.  The Board ensures that the Commission has the resources necessary to achieve goals, monitor 
progress and report on outcomes.

The Board is made up of regional representatives comprising Ministerial, Community and Local Government 
appointments.  The following Board members served during 2021-22 (the Chief Executive Officer is an 
ex-officio member by virtue of this position).
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Caris Collard
Board Member

Caris is a descendant of the Yamatji and Noongar peoples of WA.  She 
has held senior roles with BHP as a recruitment specialist, and with 
Wesfarmers Chemicals, Energy and Fertilisers as a Recruitment Services 
Portfolio Manager and Aboriginal Procurement Advisor.

Caris now operates her own business, Wila Winju Consultancy, providing 
reconciliation plan development, cultural awareness training, and 
specialist employment and recruitment services advice.  Caris was a 
Community appointment to the Board in 2022.

Anne Finlay
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Anne has worked in the public sector for 20 years, including over a decade 
with the Commission, and time with the (then) Departments of Police, 
Water and Environment. 

She has extensive experience in economic infrastructure project 
management and has a Master of Business Administration in Logistics and 
Supply Chain Management through the Australian Institute of Business.

Andrew Greaves
Board Member

Andrew has an extensive history in project management, with 
experience in the civil and mining, business enterprise and community 
services sectors.

For the past five years Andrew has developed his passion for the 
Mid West community, delivering Community Development Education 
Program activities in Mullewa, Morawa, Yalgoo and Three Springs as well 
as remote communities such as Pia Wadjarri in his role as Manager at 
MEEDAC.  Andrew was a Community appointment to the Board in 2022.

Tim Glenister 
Chair 

To 30 April 2022

Carol Minney 
Board Member 

To 11 February 2022

Craig Petterson 
Deputy Chair 

To 20 July 2021

Karen Chappel 
Board Member 
To 30 June 2022
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Performance Management Framework

Relationship to Government Goals
The Commission’s guiding framework is the 
Regional Development Commissions Act 1993 and 
the State Government’s strategic framework.  

The Commission’s Performance Management 
Framework aligns with the State Government’s 
‘regional prosperity’ goal to deliver stronger 
regional economies.

According to the Act, the desired outcomes 
of Regional Development Commissions are 
to coordinate and promote the economic 
development of regions of Western Australia, 
align with the government goal of growing 
and diversifying the economy, creating jobs 
and supporting skills development and the five 
themes of regional development endorsed by the 
Regional Development Trust.

Delivering stronger regional economies is 
key to achieving this goal at a State level and 
Regional Development Commissions facilitate 
these outcomes through the development and 
promotion of the nine regions.

Outcome Based Management Framework
As of 3 June 2021, MWDC reports against one 
Service area - Regional Development.  Details in 
this annual report reflect this change.

Service: Regional Development

To assist the development of infrastructure and 
services, and contribute to economic diversity, 
growth and employment in the Mid West region.  

This is measured with a single Key Efficiency 
Indicator of average operational costs per 
working hour.

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies
The Commission shares responsibilities for 
growing and diversifying the economy, creating 
jobs and supporting skills development with the 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD). 

The majority of the resources available to the 
Commission, including all staff except the 
Chief Executive Officer, are supplied by DPIRD in 
accordance with a Service Level Agreement.  

The Mid West region includes 16 local governments 
and the Commission pursues strategic partnerships 
and projects that will make the region (or subregion) 
a better place to live, work, study and invest.

The Commission works closely with numerous 
other State and Commonwealth government 
agencies, peak regional organisations and 
industry bodies.
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1. Grow Existing, and Find and Develop New,  
Other Alternative Industries      21

2. Aboriginal Economic Development     43

3. Normalise Regional Living Standards    49

4. Grow Existing, and Find and Develop New,  
Non-Renewable Resource and Related Industries 57

5. Organisational Excellence     63

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE
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The Commission reports upon its performance according to the five strategic themes of the 
Regional Development Portfolio Plan.

The WA Regional Development Portfolio comprises the WA Regional Development Trust, 
Regional Development Council, WA Regional Development Alliance, the Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development and the nine Regional Development Commissions.

Aligning our efforts and investment across the five strategic themes ensures the success of 
regional development in WA.

The five strategic themes of the Regional Development portfolio are as follows, with the 
Commission’s role in their delivery also indicated.

1. Grow existing, and find and develop new, other alternative industries
2. Increase the economic participation of Aboriginal people
3. Normalise regional living standards
4. Grow existing, and find and develop new, non-renewable resource and related industries
5. Organisational excellence
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1GROW EXISTING, AND 
FIND AND DEVELOP NEW, 
OTHER ALTERNATIVE 
INDUSTRIES

The Commission worked in partnership with key industry and government 
representatives to make significant headway in a range of emerging industries, with 
particular focus on tourism, food industries, renewable energy and the space economy. 

Such industries have a strong base in the Mid West with key competitive advantages 
and offer significant opportunities for further economic  growth. 

The Mid West region is home to several renewable energy industry-led projects. 

Due to the region’s strong environmental assets (in particular; solar and wind), the 
Commission is experiencing significant interest from proponents seeking to establish 
alternative energy projects in regional WA (for example, green hydrogen). 

The Commission will continue to support these new entrants and other associated 
industry development enquiries. 

Access to cost effective supply of both power and water is key to growing a variety of 
existing or new industries (for example, horticulture, mineral processing, advanced 
manufacturing). 

The Square Kilometre Array (SKA) project is a globally important initiative housed in the 
Mid West with potential to attract new expertise to the region and growing a skillset 
conducive to a modern, ‘smart’ regional economy.

The Mingenew Space Precinct also offers exciting opportunities for people interested in 
the STEM fields; and with the SKA can help attract exciting new projects in the growing 
space economy. 

Projects such as these present unique opportunities to Mid West residents, in particular 
its youth.
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Space Economy
The Square Kilometre Array (SKA) project is a 
global effort to build the world’s largest radio 
telescope, with eventually over one square 
kilometre (one million square metres) of 
collecting area.

The project is a collaboration of 14 (current) 
member countries and will be collocated at the 
Murchison Radio-astronomy Observatory (MRO) 
in the Murchison subregion and South Africa’s 
Karoo region.  

The scale of the SKA represents a huge leap 
forward in both engineering and research and 
development to build and deliver a unique 
instrument, with detailed designs finalised in 2020. 

Procurement is now underway with capital works 
expected to begin late in 2022 and take place over 
an estimated 7-8 years.

The Commission has maintained its 20-year 
support of the SKA by developing a Mid West 
space economy regional benefits package 
to leverage regional economic development 
benefits from the SKA and Mingenew Space 
Precinct (MSP).

Funding was secured in early 2021 to produce a 
series of plans and business cases for:

• A dedicated SKA interpretive centre at the 
Murchison Settlement;

• Sealing of the Carnarvon-Mullewa 
Road between Mullewa and the 
Murchison Settlement; 

• A masterplan for the MSP; and
• Building ‘smart’ science, research and 

development, technical capabilities and 
business development by leveraging off the 
expertise and activities at the SKA, MSP and 
Defence presence in the region.

Each of these business cases are now underway 
and will be completed in late 2022.  They will be 
utilised by the Commission and project partners 
to seek funding for delivery of the opportunities 
with greatest potential.

Concurrently, the Commission has also supported 
Slingshot Aerospace to prepare a scoping paper 
for a proposed Mid West Space Hub.  

This development would seek to collocate a range 
of space, radio astronomy and related science 
proponents to help support the projects at the 
MRO and MSP, pursue collaboration and build 
local capacity in the sector.

23ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22



FINANCIALSCONTENTS OVERVIEW OUR PEOPLE PERFORMANCE

MID WEST DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION24



Tourism

Updated Tourism Development Planning

A new tourism development plan is underway 
to confirm the tourism priorities within the 
Mid West, which includes both the Australia’s 
Coral Coast (ACC) and Australia’s Golden Outback 
(AGO) tourism regions.  

This new plan will be a timely refresh of the 2014 
Mid West Tourism Development Strategy, which 
successfully guided the Commission and partner 
agencies to deliver tourism priorities including 
Kalbarri Skywalk, Murchison GeoRegion, Abrolhos 
Islands, and Coastal Nodes.

With funding from Tourism Western Australia 
(TWA), a Tourism Destination Management Plan 
is being developed to identify demand, supply 
and capability needs for tourism in the ACC and 
AGO regions, and to understand stakeholders’ 
visions and needs.

The Commission supported TWA throughout 
the procurement and consultation processes, 
with various stakeholder workshop sessions held 
throughout the region to gain regional input.

The final plans are due by late 2022.

Tourism Geraldton Mid West

The Commission has led the concept of 
cluster-based economic development for a 
number of years.  

Industry clusters are a simple, yet powerful 
concept; they encourage greater connectivity and 
collaboration in regions and population centres 
across a sector.  

The concept drives innovation and accelerated 
growth, by collectively identifying and tackling 
common challenges that members could not 
otherwise pursue on their own.

Formed in 2021 with the guidance of 
the Commission, Tourism Geraldton 
Mid West (TGMW) is the region’s tourism cluster, a 
member-based co-operative organisation whose 
core purpose is promoting tourism in the region, 
influencing the development of new and renewed 
attractions and assisting members to thrive.

TGMW delivers value by providing a forum 
to educate members and identify common 
issues, advocacy on behalf of members and 
helping shape future tourism in the region by 
contributing and supporting the development of 
attractions and infrastructure.

The Commission confirmed its ongoing support 
for TGMW in 2022, entering a Memorandum of 
Understanding that enables TGMW to:

1. Engage a specialist consultant and employ a 
part time Local Area Coordinator to review the 
current operations of the TGMW Cooperative;

2. Discover new tourism opportunities for the 
Mid West through the creation of the TGMW 
3–5 year Strategic Plan; and

3. Establish a Tourism Asset Database for the 
Mid West region.

Building regional leadership and capacity is 
essential to TGMW’s growth and positioning as 
the voice of Mid West tourism operators, and 
the Commission looks forward to working with 
TGMW on this journey.
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Kalbarri Industry Recovery

Severe Tropical Cyclone (STC) Seroja made landfall 
in Kalbarri in April 2021, causing extensive damage 
to public and private infrastructure in town and 
inland throughout other parts of the region. 

Tourism is essential to the Kalbarri economy 
and the damage had an immediate negative 
impact on accommodation, attractions, food and 
beverage, support services and people.

The Commission immediately partnered with 
Tourism Western Australia (TWA) to engage 
a Project Manager to work with the Kalbarri 
community to prioritise the tourism recovery.

The initial focus is on Kalbarri’s foreshore and key 
beaches, which underpin much of the town’s 
tourism appeal.

The community confirmed its desire to replace 
and reinforce key public infrastructure such as 
roads and carparks, while also investing in assets 
and amenity that will stimulate increased tourism 
activity and generate new economic benefits for 
residents and businesses.

These enhancements include lookouts, nodes 
for new business opportunities and uniform 
interpretation of Kalbarri’s fishing, surfing, 
cultural and maritime heritage.

Community consultation took place in 
October 2021 and a masterplan was developed 
that clarifies priorities and indicates likely costs 
and benefits.

Independent economic modelling showed 
that the full project ($30M capital expenditure) 
has a Net Present Value of $360.8M with 
429 FTE positions (156 during construction and 
273 enduring) created in the Mid West, including 
15 Aboriginal people. 

Most of these benefits would be in the Kalbarri 
community and the wider Mid West region.

The Commission and TWA are now collaborating 
to investigate funding options to deliver key 
elements of the plan. 

To recognise the one-year anniversary since 
STC Seroja hit, the Commission facilitated 
Deputy Premier and Minister for State 
Development, Jobs and Trade; Tourism; 
Commerce; Science Hon. Roger Cook’s visit to 
Kalbarri during his tour of the Mid West.

While in town, he also met with Kalbarri 
tourism operators to discuss the challenges and 
opportunities for their businesses.

Minister Cook acknowledged the work 
undertaken to date, in terms of marketing 
campaigns and the public infrastructure 
planning efforts.

The Minister recognised the works that are 
still required to restore Kalbarri’s coastal and 
foreshore tourism nodes and acknowledged 
the community’s vision to build back better for 
greater long term socioeconomic benefit.
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Moresby Range Conservation Park 

The Moresby Range Conservation Park Visitor 
Concept Plan was released to the public during 
2021-22, setting a vision for affordable and 
accessible nature-based tourism and cultural 
experiences. 

Developed by the Department of Biodiversity, 
Conservation and Attractions (DBCA), with 
funding contributed by the Commission and 
Shire of Chapman Valley, the Plan proposes a 
series of campgrounds, trails, recreation and 
cultural tourism opportunities.  

A new park may provide opportunities for 
Traditional Owners to offer tours, camping, 
storytelling or other activities.

The Moresby Range offers an iconic vista, with 
180-degree views over the Geraldton and 
Chapman Valley coastlines, surrounded by 
protected flora and fauna.

Its proximity to the North West Coastal Highway 
means it could offer a perfect hook for tourists 
travelling north or south through the region, 
encouraging them to stop and stay longer.

DBCA is currently socialising the Plan with 
stakeholders and may seek funds in a future State 
budget round.

North Midlands Trails Masterplan

The Commission partnered with Western 
Australia’s Wildflower Country, a collective 
group representing the tourism interests of 
ten local government areas; Carnamah, Coorow, 
Dalwallinu, Dandaragan, Greater Geraldton 
(including Mullewa), Moora, Morawa, Mingenew, 
Perenjori and Three Springs), to deliver the 
North Midlands Trails Masterplan.

The Plan involved extensive consultation with 
local and State governments and community 
groups, to produce a database of trails and trail 
opportunities throughout the subregion.  

Based on economic modelling, the Plan 
highlighted a number of regionally significant 
trails that might be developed to enable new 
events and create new attractions for the growing 
demographic of bike-friendly tourists.

Trails have generated significant economic 
development outcomes throughout the world, 
with the momentum somewhat slower in the 
Mid West.  

It is hoped this Plan will provide the impetus 
for stakeholders to progress the most prospective 
trails projects.
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Sustainable Tourism at the Abrolhos Islands

In 2019, the Houtman Abrolhos Islands 
National Park was established to include all 
uninhabited island areas to the high-water mark.

The National Park is vested in the Conservation 
and Parks Commission and managed by DBCA.

The Houtman Abrolhos Islands National Park 
draft management plan was released for a 
10-week public comment period in early 2021.

DBCA is currently preparing the final 
management plan based on the analysis of 
submissions, with the plan to be released in the 
second half of 2022.

The Commission supported DPIRD to 
develop two draft management plans for the 
Abrolhos Reserve and Fish Habitat Protection 
Area (FHPA), with the focus on ensuring existing 
wild catch fisheries (lobster, scallop, commercial 
fishing), tourism and aquaculture industry needs 
were properly considered and represented.
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The Abrolhos Reserve is the occupied island area 
(not included within the National Park), which is 
vested in the Minister for Fisheries for the purpose 
of conservation, tourism, fishing and aquaculture.  

The Abrolhos FHPA includes the surrounding State 
waters.

The draft plans set out management objectives 
and actions under six strategic priority areas.

1. Nature Conservation and Protection
2. Cultural Heritage Protection
3. Tourism
4. Sustainable Fisheries and Aquaculture
5. Abrolhos Community
6. Governance

The Commission worked closely with all agencies 
to identify priorities within the management plans 
to drive these objectives. 

The Commission and DPIRD ensured engagement 
and public and industry input into the plans.  
These were released for public comment in 
early 2022 and are to be released later in 2022. 

The Commission will continue to concierge the 
island Bodies Corporate and industry proponents 
and will work closely with DPIRD to investigate 
funding alternatives for tourism and aquaculture 
industry activation.
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Murchison Geotourism and Astrotourism – Building Rock Star Regional Tourism Products

The Commission has been working with 
the seven Murchison local governments 
(Cue, Meekatharra, Mount Magnet, Murchison, 
Sandstone, Wiluna and Yalgoo) and numerous 
key agencies, individuals and Aboriginal 
Corporations to develop a project that supports a 
range of infrastructure, promotions and business 
development initiatives in the subregion. 

Through the ‘Murchison GeoRegion – Ancient 
lands, Brilliant skies’ campaign, the subregion 
is poised to capitalise on growing geotourism 
interest and achieve its tourism potential. 

Geotourism provides interpretation of how geology 
informed the landscape and natural environment 
(flora and fauna) and its use by traditional 
Aboriginal owners and non-Aboriginal settlers.  

By drawing connections between geology and 
landscapes, ecology, astronomical observations 
and their relevance to Aboriginal culture in the 
Murchison, geotourism can add a completely new 
dimension to the regional tourism experience.

As a Pre-Aspiring Geopark, ultimately the 
Murchison could also host one of Australia’s first 
UNESCO Global Geoparks.

The collaboration has been extremely effective 
and elevated the scale and impact of the 
GeoRegion initiative beyond anything that could 
have been achieved in isolation. 

The Commission continues to use this model to 
support other new initiatives in the Murchison 
and other Mid West subregions.

Throughout 2021 and 2022, the Commission has 
supported the Project Working Group (PWG) 
with recruitment of a Murchison GeoRegion 
Project Officer, through a generous partnership 
with Regional Development Australia, Mid West 
Gascoyne (RDAMWG).

A strategic plan was also facilitated, alongside 
investigations of different governance alternatives 
for similar cross regional tourism ventures.

Through a Memorandum of Understanding, the 
Commission and RDAMWG continue to support 
the Project Officer and the PWG as required.

The project incorporates activation of an 
astrotourism development in the Murchison as 
a logical complement to the initial geotourism 
focus of the project. 

This builds on the intrinsic link between earth 
and stars, with a particular focus on Aboriginal 
enterprise development to showcase local 
Aboriginal interpretation of the night skies. 

In 2022, the Commission allocated funding 
to Astrotourism WA to commence the initial 
planning for astrotourism in the Murchison, 
with a particular focus on Aboriginal dark sky 
interpretation. 

The project will produce an itinerary of dark sky 
hot spots in the Murchison, backed up through 
proper dark sky measurements, stakeholder 
engagement and limited astrophotography.

In the first instance this itinerary will be used as a 
promotional tool for the many visitors to Exmouth 
in April 2023 for the rare total solar eclipse.

Once complete, action plans will be developed for 
each community and the Commission can then 
work with Shires that are keen to progress their 
highest priorities.

This work also complements other astrotourism 
ventures being promoted in the region, 
including the SKA Interpretive Experience at the 
Murchison Settlement that is being developed as 
part of the Commission’s space economy regional 
benefits package.
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Walga Rock and Wilgie Mia Tourism Activation

Walga Rock (Walganha) and Wilgie Mia, located 
within the Shire of Cue, are two of the 21 Murchison 
GeoRegion sites.

Early in 2021, the Commission provided funding to 
Wajarri Yamaji Aboriginal Corporation (WYAC) to 
investigate the tourism potential of the two sites.  

An On-Country workshop in early 2021 saw the 
Elders and Traditional Owners for the area working 
with WYAC management and representatives 
from the Commission and other interested 
organisations to develop a masterplan for tourism 
development.

Walga Rock emerged as the short-term focus 
of Traditional Owners, as it is one of the most 
significant and complex painted rock art sites 
in WA.

It is a 50m high granite batholith, similar but 
smaller than Uluru, with a long rock shelter 
opening to the north-west.

This shelter contains more than 1,000 rock 
paintings spanning the full extent of a 60m 
long shelter.

The paintings are in both red and white pigments 
and capture a long painting sequence that has not 
yet been scientifically dated.

The archaeological deposits in the shelter have 
been shown to extend back around 10,000 years.

Walganha has the largest rock painting site south 
of the Kimberley and has deep significance for all 
Wajarri people.

The masterplan includes a series of design 
principles and prioritises a range of initiatives.

• Securing Wajarri ownership for the site;
• Protecting the artwork;
• Developing sustainable Wajarri-owned and 

operated tourism opportunities at Walganha 
and Wilgie Mia (with Walganha the priority);

• Establishing a ranger program; and
• Developing sustainable Wajarri-owned and 

operated land management businesses 
throughout Wajarri country.

The Commission is now working with WYAC, the 
Shire of Cue, Department of Planning, Lands and 
Heritage (DPLH) and others to progress these 
activities.

The Shire has already to committed to assist with 
various siteworks and DLPH is leading the process 
to secure Walga Rock for Wajarri ownership.

The Commission was also able to support WYAC 
with funding in the last round of the Regional 
Economic Development Fund for a tour vehicle, 
equipment, marketing and training costs (refer to 
the section on RED Grants for more details).
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Kaju Yatka - Kalbarri Skywalk

One of the Mid West’s most popular tourist 
attractions, Kaju Yatka - Kalbarri Skywalk, has 
found itself on a national stage attracting more 
praise and accolades.

The Commission played a key role in the 
inception of the Skywalk, a direct result of our Mid 
West Tourism Development Strategy to identify 
tourism opportunities, game changers, priorities 
and gaps for the Mid West region.

The Commission was heavily involved in the 
business case development phase and worked 
closely with DBCA and DPIRD to secure the 
necessary funding for delivery.

The Skywalk won the National Award of 
Excellence for Tourism and the National Regional 
Achievement Award at the 2021 Australian 
Institute of Landscape Architects (AILA) 
National Awards.

On the Award of Excellence for Tourism, the 
jury’s comments noted “the highly successful 
outcomes of the work include the creation of 
site‑specific and cultural interpretations of art 
with Nanda Traditional Owners and artists.

“The lookouts, while technically heavy pieces of 
infrastructure, nonetheless look and feel light 
– the result of an exceptional design effort and 
innovative thinking.

“The design marries structural and landscape 
design to create an experience that is visually 
and tactilely light, and entwined with deep 
cultural storytelling and cultural messaging by 
the Nanda people.

“The project encourages longer visits to the 
region through the provision of safe and 
comfortable visitor gathering areas and 
access ways.

“It delivers a key tourism focal point that offers 
a highly memorable experience of the cultural, 
visual and natural environments within the 
national park and it will encourage visitation to 
the area for many years to come.”

On the Regional Achievement Award, the 
jury said;

“Kaju Yatka enables an unforgettable experience 
of the landscape of the Murchison River – an 
experience like no other. 

“Central to the project is the delivery of a visitors’ 
centre and new skywalk that is cantilevered over 
the gorge’s edge to provide a platform for truly 
absorbing the landscape.

“Cultural messaging by the Nanda Traditional 
Owners is embedded throughout the site, 
providing visitors with an understanding of the 
Nanda people’s past and ongoing connection to 
Country and culture. 

“This is an exemplar regional project that offers 
a world‑class national park experience and 
cements Kalbarri as a major tourism destination 
at the global scale.”
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The Skywalk was voted the top Australian 
architecture project on the popular national 
TV program, Australia By Design in 2022.  

The attraction was featured in series five of the 
architecture show on Network 10, with the final 
episode of the series showcasing the top ten 
architecture projects across the country.

The project made excellent use of local content, 
with Geraldton-based Eastman Poletti Sherwood 
Architects designing the Skywalk, which was 
manufactured in Perth.

Geraldton construction company GBSC Yurra 
won the 2022 Master Builders Australia National 
President’s Award for its work on the Skywalk. 

GBSC Yurra was responsible for the construction 
of toilets, shade structures, the kiosk and 
extensive landscaping using natural stone 
taken from the site and installed as artwork in 
Kalbarri National Park.

Award judges said it demonstrated expert 
craftsmanship from blending into the natural 
environment to building the project with 
low-maintenance materials to ensure low upkeep 
and sustainability.

Tourism Council WA awarded the Skywalk 
bronze in the new tourism business category at 
its annual Western Australian Tourism Awards, 
which celebrates business excellence, innovation 
and outstanding customer service by tourism 
operators.

Australian Graphic Design Association recognised 
the interpretive design of the Skywalk, naming it 
a finalist in its annual AGDA Design Awards, 2021.

The awards recognise the best work in Australia 
across a wide range of disciplines every year.  
The awards aim to further the discussion about 
design and to stimulate the creative progress of 
the industry. 

We continue to work to embed tourism as an 
integral economic component of our region, 
because ultimately, growing our tourism industry 
improves amenity for everyone and makes our 
region even more desirable.
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Regional Drought Resilience Planning

Western Australia has a history of drought 
and drying climate, and it is vital that effective, 
community-identified solutions are developed to 
mitigate its effects.  Drought is a feature of current 
and future climate change impacts.

The Future Drought Fund (FDF) set up by the 
Commonwealth Government in 2019-20, invests 
$100 million annually into projects across Australia 
to strengthen regional drought resilience.

The Regional Drought Resilience Planning (RDRP) 
Program is one of eight foundational programs 
under the FDF and was delivered in three pilot 
regions (Mid West, Wheatbelt and Great Southern) 
in 2021-22 in partnership with the WA Government.

The program supported regional organisations, 
local government, communities and industry 
to partner to develop Regional Drought 
Resilience Plans.

The Commission partnered with NACC-NRM, 
DPIRD and three local governments 
(Greater Geraldton, Chapman Valley and 
Northampton) to develop its plan, to identify and 
guide actions to build the pilot areas’ resilience to 
future droughts, with a focus on agriculture and 
allied industries.

A detailed Drought Vulnerability Assessment (DVA) 
was undertaken to explore aspects of exposure, 
sensitivity, impact and adaptive capacity and how 
these affect vulnerability and resilience to drought 
in the region.

Developing the DVA involved regional 
organisations, local government, academic 
professionals, community, industry and other key 
drought stakeholders coming together to share 
and consolidate experience, scientific data, local 
knowledge and expertise.

With the added contribution of technical and 
project advisory groups, the DVA formed the 
foundation for the Plan.

The aim of the Plan will be to secure 
Federal Government funding for specific 
drought resilience initiatives to help the region’s 
agribusinesses and agricultural communities 
better prepare for and manage drought risks.

The collaborative process of developing the plan 
has supported community ownership of the issue 
of current and future climate change impacts and 
drought resilience, and the potential impact on 
economic, environmental and social wellbeing, 
together with the opportunity for communities to 
communicate regional drought resilience needs 
and priorities to all levels of government.

The draft regional plan will be open for public 
comment in the second half of 2022.

Mid West Food Industries Alliance

The Commission continued to work extensively with 
the Mid West Food Industries Alliance (MWFIA) in 
2021-22, sponsoring its inaugural Mid West WA Food 
Marketplace event at Shore Leave Festival in 2022.

A unique collaboration between MWFIA, 
Central Regional TAFE Hospitality trainers and 
students, WA Food Ambassador and Chef 
Don Hancey, and local producers, the Marketplace 
event offered an exclusively local tasting menu, with 
over 500 samples served to the public.

The event also supported a number of local vendors 
to host trade stalls.

The Commission also provided support to MWFIA to 
host its inaugural annual general meeting. 

As a key stakeholder of MWFIA, the Commission 
will seek to drive our vision for the Mid West to be 
recognised as a premium, sustainable food bowl in 
Western Australia.

Together with MWFIA, the Commission will 
continue to focus on:

• Developing a regional and globally recognised 
food brand;

• Increasing viability of members (through 
greater sales);

• Increasing the number and satisfaction of 
members;

• Ensuring members support other members’ 
products;

• Creating financial sustainability for the 
MWFIA organisation;

• Recognising and raising the profile of 
the region’s remarkable diversity of food 
producers and its food culture and associated 
industries;

• Working with local chefs and producers to run 
culinary events to showcase the high standard 
of Mid West produce; and

• Linking with and leveraging off existing 
tourism and horticulture clusters and other 
complementary groups to expand the 
Mid West’s food and tourism experiences.
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Renewable Energy 

The Commission has been promoting the 
region’s potential for renewable energy for a 
number of years.  

It has been working with renewable hydrogen 
interests, seeking to leverage our globally 
attractive wind and solar resources as a potential 
source of renewable energy to support the 
production of green hydrogen and other 
green industrial activities, such as green steel 
manufacturing.

In addition, the Commission worked in 
partnership with Department of Jobs, Tourism, 
Science and Innovation (JTSI) and a range of 
regional, including Aboriginal, stakeholders to 
develop a substantial proposal for a renewable 
hydrogen hub in the Mid West.

The Mid West Clean Hydrogen Hub proposal 
includes construction of renewable energy and 
road infrastructure at the Oakajee Strategic 
Industrial Area, as well as connecting the area 
to power and water, and developing hydrogen 
refuelling infrastructure.

The hub will be pivotal in demonstrating the 
viability of hydrogen use more broadly and will 
be a substantial step along the development 
pathway which could lead to renewable hydrogen 
or ammonia exported from this region.

The State Government’s commitment to a 
Mid West Clean Hydrogen Hub underscores 
the region’s credentials as a future source of 
competitive renewable hydrogen. 
 

Oakajee Activation

The Oakajee Strategic Industrial Area (SIA) 
represents a significant opportunity within 
WA’s unique renewable hydrogen landscape, 
and underscores the Mid West’s comparative 
advantage in this sector.

The State Government intends to transform the 
site into a globally competitive, multi-product 
renewable hydrogen industrial precinct.

It is proposed for the precinct to have a particular 
focus on innovative technologies and future value 
chains such as:

• The production of renewable hydrogen for 
domestic use;

• Downstream processing industries; and
• Export and advanced manufacturing 

industries servicing the renewable hydrogen 
market.

To initiate this process, in 2020, the State 
Government ran an expression of interest 
campaign to obtain market interest in the 
development of the Oakajee SIA for renewable 
hydrogen opportunities, and better understand 
what is required to unlock its potential. 

The State Government is finalising its response in 
relation to these matters, which should be visible 
in 2022.

The Commission supports the development 
of the Oakajee SIA via an interagency working 
group with lead agency, JTSI, estate manager, 
Development WA, and other State and local 
government partners.

Funding has been committed to develop and 
upgrade infrastructure at the Oakajee SIA to 
establish a major renewable hydrogen hub in the 
Mid West.

• $7.5 million for an access road into the 
Oakajee SIA to kick-start activation of the 
precinct.

• $4 million will be directed towards developing 
the plan for activation of Oakajee and for 
additional infrastructure requirements, and to 
bolster JTSI’s Renewable Hydrogen Unit.
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Hydrogen Technology Cluster

A Mid West hydrogen technology cluster has been 
identified to further support the development of 
Australia’s future clean hydrogen industry.

The cluster is led by the Mid West Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry.  It operates under the 
Hydrogen Technology Cluster Australia (H2TCA) 
program, which is funded by the Australian 
Government’s Industry Growth Centre Initiative.

The cluster aims to bring together local 
players to build the region’s skills and advance 
commercialisation opportunities.

This cluster supports the Federal Government’s 
investment of more than $1.2 billion to accelerate 
the development of an Australian hydrogen 
industry.

The Federal Government’s ambition is to produce 
affordable clean hydrogen for use both in 
Australia and to export to our trading partners, 
and regional Australia is critical to this.

This cluster will help accelerate hydrogen industry 
development by enabling vital connection, 
collaboration, and alignment of action across 
Australia (with other clusters).

Encouraging innovation, and building 
capabilities, particularly in regional Australia, will 
help make Australian hydrogen supply chains the 
most attractive in the world.

People in the Mid West have an important role 
to play in our Government’s push to fast-track 
the development of a clean hydrogen industry 
and the presence of the cluster puts us on the 
national map as a region that is prioritising the 
industry and will help unlock opportunities for 
even more major investment into the future.

The Commission plays an important advocacy 
function to ensure the enabling infrastructure 
and services are in place to activate the 
hydrogen industry in the Mid West, including 
transport infrastructure, energy, water, workforce 
and housing, which are referenced throughout 
this annual report.
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Industry Activity

The Commission’s active facilitation of industry 
proponents and long-standing strategic work 
in the energy space was rewarded with funding 
support secured for key projects across the region 
over the year.

Strike Energy’s Project Haber urea manufacturing 
facility in the Mid West received $2 million under 
the Australian Government’s Supply Chain 
Resilience Initiative.

Project Haber was also granted Major Project 
Status by the Australian Federal Government in 
early 2022.

This status is based on alignment with the 
National Hydrogen Strategy and advancement of 
Australia’s downstream manufacturing industry.

Major Project Status gives Strike access to the 
Major Projects Facilitation Agency for approvals, 
project support and coordination.

It completes official recognised support for the 
project by both State and Federal Governments.

The project will produce up to 1.4 million tonnes 
per annum of urea from clean hydrogen and 
natural gas. 

Urea is the most commonly used solid nitrogen 
fertiliser, and Australia is almost completely 
dependent upon imports of urea to support the 
nation’s agricultural sector.

The project is estimated to support 1135 full time 
jobs each year during the three-year construction 
phase and 300 full time jobs per year over its 
30-year life.

Midwest Geothermal, owned by Strike Energy, 
secured a $2M grant from the State Government’s 
Clean Energy Future Fund (CEFF) to fund a test 
well and progress the development of the Mid 
West’s geothermal resources.

The CEFF supports innovative clean energy 
projects and technologies in WA with the 
potential to support reductions in greenhouse 
gas emissions.

The grant will be directed towards pilot drilling at 
a site near Dongara to demonstrate geothermal 
energy to enable a future 180MW project.

The Commission understands that there is a 
substantial, untapped, potential geothermal 
resource in the Mid West and this project will be 
an important step in demonstrating whether this 
potential can be realised for the benefit of the 
Mid West region and the State.

Geothermal power offers a unique source of 
renewable, low emission power that could 
improve energy security and reliability, and 
strengthen our regional economy.

The Murchison Hydrogen Renewables project 
will receive Lead Agency Services from JTSI, 
recognising it as a project of State significance 
that will bring economic development, 
employment, training, and technology transfer 
opportunities to the Mid West region, and the 
State as a whole.

The project will use wind turbines and solar 
panels to produce 5.2 gigawatts of electricity, 
which will power the production of hydrogen that 
will be converted into 2 million tonnes of green 
ammonia each year.

The project is estimated to create between 
1,000-1,250 jobs during construction, and 
250-300 jobs during operations.

Finally, the Commission worked to host and 
facilitate WA-founded DUG Technology, as it seeks 
to develop a Green Exascale High Performance 
Computing (HPC) facility in Geraldton.

Stage 1 construction for an initial 12MW data hall 
is planned to commence in 2022.

DUG will leverage regional fibre connectivity and 
renewable energy advantages to pursue its green, 
secure, HPC growth ambitions.

The Commission plays a role in enabling projects 
such as these through strategic infrastructure 
investment and maintains ongoing dialogue with 
proponents through their development phase.

These projects will activate a substantial 
infrastructure development agenda in the 
Mid West and we look forward to continued 
engagement with proponents.
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Southern Rangelands Revitalisation

The rangelands of WA provide support to major 
industries in our region, such as resources and 
energy, tourism and pastoral production.

The State Government has committed to an 
industry led approach to address landscape 
function improvement, building the production 
capacity and industry capacity in the rangelands.

Established in 2020 with support by the 
Commission, the Southern Rangelands Pastoral 
Alliance (SRPA) has become a key industry body 
for pastoralists that enables this.

SRPA made substantial progress over the past 
year, with five projects underway, investing more 
than $1.1 million into the region.

1. Bullseye 2 Livestock Productivity, funded by 
Meat and Livestock Australia; supporting 
producers via selection, adoption 
and assessment of new or improved 
management strategies to increase the 
productivity and profitability of their pastoral 
enterprise, whilst simultaneously improving 
the environmental condition of their 
properties.

2. Rehydrating the Southern Rangelands 
of WA, funded through Foundation for 
Rural and Regional Renewal (FRRR) and the 
Australian Government’s Future Drought 
Fund (FDF) (Networks to Build Drought 
Resilience Program, Round 1); engaging a soil 
conservation expert to train pastoralists how 
to better read the landscape, and to recognise 
where the surface water management 
problems are, what is causing them, and how 
they can be rectified. 

3. Showcasing Our Resilience - Sharing Our 
Stories Across The Southern Rangelands, 
funded through FRRR and the FDF; enabling 
the production of podcast episodes and 
storytelling videos to demonstrate the 
innovative work of pastoralists to manage 
their rangeland landscapes. The podcasts 
and videos will be shared to enable other 
pastoralists to observe, learn and apply similar 
techniques which may be of benefit on their 
own properties. They will also provide real-life 
information for people who are not familiar 
with the challenges that pastoralists face, nor 
the unique or innovative ways in which they 
are dealing with the challenges they endure, 
particularly in times of drought.

4. Developing Automated Technology to Assess 
Natural Capital on Pastoral Leases, funded by 
the Australian Government’s Future Drought 
Fund (South West WA Drought Resilience 
Adoption and Innovation Hub); developing 
automated technologies for the assessment 
of the natural capital elements of biodiversity 
and soil organic carbon, to remove the 
current human requirements which impact 
resources, time and costs. It will digitise the 
measurement, management, and processing 
of these natural capital elements through the 
establishment of an in-field methodology 
with readily available devices.

5. Drone-Mounted Species Recognition 
System, funded  by the FDF (South West WA 
Drought Resilience Adoption and Innovation 
Hub); developing a drone mounted species 
recognition system to locate and visually 
record feral animal species that contribute 
negatively to total grazing pressure.

SRPA is establishing itself as a group with whom 
businesses and other organisations want to partner.

With a broad perspective on rangelands issues, 
including livestock production, rangeland 
condition, natural capital and new technologies, 
the group aims to build an identity that will 
be synonymous with best-practice rangelands 
pastoral management, and innovative 
development and adoption of new markets and 
technologies to increase industry productivity 
and profitability.

The group also collaborates with existing smaller 
grower groups across the region, including 
Recognised Biosecurity Groups. 

Where possible, it provides additional support 
beyond that which can be offered by these smaller 
groups, such as direct funding support, acting 
as an auspicing body for grant applications and 
collaborating on projects to combine resources.

In early 2022, the Board held a review workshop 
which confirmed that SRPA has achieved and 
is working through the strategies and actions 
identified in the 2021 Strategic Plan. 

This plan will continue to guide the SRPA in its 
growth and development as the peak pastoral 
industry body of the Southern Rangelands of WA.
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The Commission understands the vital importance of Aboriginal people, their traditions 
and culture to the regional economy. 

The Commission has actively incorporated Aboriginal economic development outcomes 
in projects and activity areas, including tourism, infrastructure, mining, agribusiness, 
industry development, local content and liveable and connected communities.

2ABORIGINAL
ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT
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Aboriginal Business Support
A strong focus of the Local Content Advisor 
Network (LCAN) is to drive opportunities for 
regional Aboriginal businesses.

In practical terms, this has involved assisting 
agencies, Government Trading Enterprises, 
local governments and the private sector to 
identify and consider opportunities to either 
quarantine small portions of a contract for 
Aboriginal business or to use the discretionary 
powers under the Aboriginal Procurement Policy 
to directly engage Aboriginal businesses for the 
main contract. 

This ‘direct engagement’ opportunity facilitates 
capacity building and employment opportunities 
for small Aboriginal business, tailored to 
meet specific regional needs and operating 
environments, and raising awareness of regional 
Government procurement opportunities.

Some examples of this include the following.
• Awarding of Visitor Shelter Facility 

construction at Shell Beach (Shark Bay region) 
to a Mid West Aboriginal business

• Quarantining of a small works package in the 
Square Kilometre Array project for tendering 
by Wadjarri businesses 

• Establishing targets for Aboriginal 
engagement in the Geraldton Aboriginal 
Short Stay Accommodation facility

• Awarding Geraldton Museum Roof 
Remediation works to a Mid West Aboriginal 
business

• Awarding of Community Health Building 
Roof Replacement works to a Mid West 
Aboriginal business

The promotion of Aboriginal business capability in 
the region is instrumental in delivering improved 
outcomes.  To this end, the LCAN also played a key 
role in inaugural Mid West Aboriginal Business 
Forum in 2022 through participation in the 
working group and direct financial support.

The event also supported further implementation 
of the Aboriginal Procurement Policy by creating 
potential contracting opportunities for Aboriginal 
businesses with State agencies.

Through LCAN, MWDC maintains regular 
communication with Mid West Aboriginal 
businesses about tender opportunities, and 
provides information regarding business support 
services to build capacity and capability.

Local Content Advisor Tony Emmott presented 
at the Waalitj (previously known as Wirrapanda) 
Foundation’s first Geraldton Regional Pop Up Hub 
in 2021. 

Waalitj Hub provides support to Aboriginal people 
wanting to start, grow or sustain their businesses.

The event focussed on the need to take time to 
work on your business to develop financial plans, 
marketing plans, training programs and longer 
term strategies in order to be competitive and 
control costs within the business.

An overarching message was that if the goal is 
to become a Tier 1 contractor for larger projects, 
businesses should not discount the concept of 
joint venturing or partnering on projects initially, 
to build capability and capacity which would lead 
to being eligible for pre-qualification. 
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Aboriginal Business Forum
The Commission was extremely proud to 
support the Mid West’s first Aboriginal Business 
Forum in Geraldton in 2022, in collaboration 
with Yamatji Southern Regional Corporation, 
the Mid West Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry and Aboriginal businesses, to highlight 
opportunities and celebrate recent successes of 
the fast-growing sector.

The inaugural event was designed to promote 
local Aboriginal business capacity and provide 
opportunities for business development, training 
and employment.

The forum featured a line-up of keynote speakers, 
two discussion panels and a diverse local 
business expo.

The event was also an opportunity to embrace 
Aboriginal culture in business and industry, 
cultivate skills and meaningful relationships, and 
together, celebrate Aboriginal business wins.

More than 200 people from local Aboriginal 
businesses, State agency buyers, head contractors 
and local industry attended the event to 
showcase their services and explore contracting 
opportunities in the region.

The Forum was supported by a welcome dinner 
event featuring locally prepared, authentic 
Aboriginal cuisine, an after-hours networking 
event and Aboriginal art auction.

Follow the inaugural event’s success, it is hoped 
this event will become a regular fixture on the 
local industry event calendar.

Australian Indigenous Tourism 
Conference
The Western Australian Indigenous Tourism 
Operators Council, the peak industry body in 
WA representing Aboriginal Tourism Operators, 
partnered with the Queensland Government 
to deliver the Australian Indigenous Tourism 
Conference 2022 in Cairns in April 2022.

The conference focused on key areas of Aboriginal 
tourism, youth, environment, culture, and the 
business of tourism. 

A priority was the pursuit for culturally authentic 
Aboriginal tourism products, especially in the 
development, employment, and training of 
Aboriginal people.

The Commission supported a delegate to attend 
from Yamaji Art, the region’s peak art centre.

Through this sponsorship, Yamaji Art learned how 
to deliver Aboriginal arts as quality products, rather 
than trying to meet every visitor’s expectations.

Yamaji Art is now redirecting their focus onto 
developing artist / Elder talks and tourism 
products comprising authentic Yamaji artworks.

Yamaji Art also gained knowledge on supply 
chains to assist with developing merchandise and 
products, which is another area the Commission 
was able to support separately.

They are currently trying to leverage the 
Commission’s sponsorship with other funding to 
deliver a successful outcome by developing high 
quality products and merchandise that support 
their sustainability.
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Yamatji Nation Indigenous Land Use Agreement
The Commission continues to work closely with 
Yamatji Southern Regional Corporation (YSRC) and 
various stakeholders to progress its obligations 
within the Yamatji Nation Indigenous Land Use 
Agreement (ILUA).

Specifically, the Commission is supporting YSRC 
to develop the Hutt Lagoon tourism precinct 
(Pink Lake and Lucky Bay) with ILUA funds of 
$8.92 million to be disbursed via DPIRD.

YSRC opened its doors in mid-2021 and has 
been gradually building its internal processes 
and capacity, with a range of staff and Board 
recruitment priorities.  

The Commission was able to assist during this 
time by managing the procurement process for 
the Hutt Lagoon Commercial Analysis, which 
was needed to direct YSRC on the best use of 
ILUA funds for greatest tourism impact and 
commercial outcomes for Yamatji people.  

The report was finalised and endorsed by 
Yamatji Enterprise Limited (YEL), as the economic 
arm of YSRC, early in 2022.  The analysis prioritised 
work at Lucky Bay, primarily due to land transfer 
imperatives and the essential visitor and land 
management obligations that will follow.  

YSRC has since completed a draft Lucky Bay 
site management plan, targeting lodgement 
with the Minister for Planning late in 2022.

In time, priorities at Lucky Bay will include 
land management, development of new and 
enhanced accommodation, and stimulating 
Yamatji cultural tourism business opportunities.

Further master planning for Pink Lake is 
imminent, which will likely include attractions 
and ‘must do’ experiences overlooking  
the iconic Pink Lake, near Port Gregory  
in the Shire of Northampton.

Concurrently, the Commission has also worked 
with YSRC and Tourism WA to secure funds for 
a Yamatji Tourism Strategy, which will identify 
tourism priorities across Yamatji country.  This will 
obviously include Pink Lake and Lucky Bay, along 
with other prospective commercial tourism 
opportunities for Yamatji people.  This strategy is 
due in late 2022.

As a member of the Yamatji Nation ILUA 
Government Partnership Committee, the 
Commission will continue to support YSRC 
as required in relation to its ILUA obligations 
as well as collaborating on a range of other 
socioeconomic development initiatives.
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The Commission recognises that a high level of liveability and connectivity is critical 
to ensure the Mid West is competitive as an investment and lifestyle destination. 

The Commission is focused on working with the responsible State and Federal 
Government departments and regional stakeholders to improve access to 
education and health services, maximise opportunities, and enhance quality of life. 

In order to build key sector capacity and to cater for community and regional 
growth, the Commission continues to play a lead role working across industry and 
government to deliver greater housing choice.

3NORMALISE 
REGIONAL LIVING 
STANDARDS
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Regional Housing
As regional housing, particularly worker housing, 
continues to be a significant challenge across 
the Mid West, and beyond, the Commission 
continues working to address housing issues 
affecting Mid West communities and key sectors.

It is well understood that there is a need for greater 
variety of housing product to attract and cater 
for the transient, contract and service workers 
(key workers) typically employed in the tourism, 
construction, and mining / resources sectors. 

Over the 2021-22 financial year, the housing 
market continued to tighten, with costs for both 
labour and materials rising significantly. 

Market conditions have resulted in projects across 
the region suffering from both cost escalations 
and delivery delays.

The Commission has led a collaborative approach, 
working with key stakeholders across industry 
and both State and Local Government to identify 
and progress solutions. 

This approach has been applied to the regional 
capital of Geraldton, as well as the region’s smaller 
towns – virtually all of which are finding housing 
shortages a key constraint to development.

In late 2021, the Commission released a 
Geraldton Housing Market Analysis. 

This revealed a need for increasing housing 
diversity within Geraldton, but also underscored 
some key challenges to development in terms 
of the market viability of some product types, 
and the resulting need for potential funding 
injections, policy changes or a combination of 
interventions. 

The Commission continues to work with 
the City of Greater Geraldton and other 
stakeholders to progress the development of the 
Batavia Coast Marina Stage 2 site, as well as other 
worker accommodation opportunities.

Concurrently, the Commission has commenced 
housing market analyses for both the Murchison 
and North Midlands subregions, to gain insight 
into current conditions as well as determining 
options, potentially non-traditional solutions, to 
address the housing issues facing these areas.

Finally, the Commission continues to support 
project partners, primarily the Department of 
Planning, Lands and Heritage, to deliver upon 
the election commitment for the construction of 
worker accommodation in Kalbarri. 

As the impacts of Severe Tropical Cyclone Seroja 
continue to be felt strongly in that community, 
the Registrations of Interest process has drawn 
to a close, and it is expected that negotiations 
will commence with the successful proponent in 
late 2022.
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Local Content
The Local Content Adviser Network (LCAN), was 
established in 2018 with a Local Content Advisor 
based in each of the nine regions working 
collaboratively within Regional Development 
Commissions, their role is to advocate for greater 
opportunity to small and medium regional 
businesses in State Government Procurement.

At a high level the LCAN works with JTSI, under 
the Buy Local Policy (BLP) and the Department of 
Finance under both the Aboriginal Procurement 
Policy and the Western Australian Procurement 
Rules to provide the framework for optimising 
opportunities to regional business in procurement 
activities of all State Government agencies and 
Government Trading Enterprises (GTE).

Government expenditure is a critical part of our 
economy, and should support broad economic, 
social and sustainability outcomes, create more 
opportunities for regional businesses and 
contribute to meaningful employment growth in 
regional Western Australia.

In 2020, the BLP was revised to provide procuring 
Agencies and GTEs with guidelines around 
delivering local content outcomes.  The BLP was 
updated early 2022 to further strengthen support 
for the local content outcomes.

As the LCAN evolves, the focus has expanded to 
incorporate Local and Federal Government and 
private and resource sector procurement activities.

These collectively comprise a region’s economic 
activity, and building local content across all these 
activities is key to sustainable growth in the region.

Some of the positive local content outcomes over 
the 2021-22 financial year included the following.

• The Square Kilometre Array’s International 
Procurement Team committed to developing 
local content and Aboriginal business content 
components in their Procurement Strategy, 
where none existed prior.  This included 
disaggregation of some work packages to 
meet the capacity and capability of local 
industry and, in particular, Wadjarri business.

• The contract for Central Regional TAFE’s 
Visual Arts and Creative Industries Hub was 
secured by a local builder with strong local 
content outcomes at 74%.

• Department of Communities contracted 
six new residential builds, all of which were 
awarded to local building contractors.

• Development of an expression of interest 
registration platform for local subcontractors 
on the Geraldton Health Campus main works 
package, along with revision of the tender 
documentation and agreement to extend 
Regional Content Price Preferencing value on 
the project to maximum allowable.

• Main Roads’ new administration building 
was completed in 2022. This project was 
undertaken by a local building contractor 
with a total of 36 local subcontractors used 
and an overall 43% local content outcome on 
the project.

The LCAN has directed resources to engage 
with agencies and entities where procurement 
activities are centralised and regional opportunity 
has, to date, been constrained by lack of 
comprehension of regional capability. 

LCAN engagements are primarily based on 
advocating for change in procurement practises 
in line with the BLP 2022.

The Commission hosts the Local Content Advisor 
and has a strong commitment to the successful 
implementation of the policy across our region.

It has been participating in early briefings with 
resource and private developments to promote 
the concept of local and Aboriginal business 
content in project planning, and will continue to 
advocate for greater local and Aboriginal business 
content in both private and government projects 
in the Mid West.
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Digital Connectivity

2021-22 saw the completion of the Mid West 
deployment of the multi-year Digital Farms 
Program – a State-wide initiative delivering access 
to high speed terrestrial wireless broadband 
internet across approximately 35,500km2 of the 
Mid West’s agricultural region. 

The Mid West rollout was delivered by 
Geraldton-based LogicIT Solutions and has 
unlocked new productivity opportunities and 
improvements for agricultural businesses.

Funding was also secured for 54 mobile phone 
towers in the Mid West from the Mobile Black 
Spot Program (Rounds 1,2,4,5 and 5A) and 
Regional Connectivity Program, with 15 additional 
sites also funded in the Mobile Network 
Hardening Program, which provides battery and 
power upgrades to existing sites. 

These investments have improved connectivity, 
public safety, productivity and innovation 
throughout the region.

The Commission has been instrumental in 
the delivery of significant achievements in the 
digital connectivity and economy space, but 
recognises there is still much to be done in parts 
of the Mid West, most notably in the Murchison 
and North Midlands subregions which still face 
significant connectivity challenges.

To that end, in 2022-23 the Commission will look 
to leverage programs like the State Government’s 
WA Regional Digital Connectivity Program, which 
was allocated $48.6 million to improve mobile 
and internet coverage in regional areas of WA.

The program will see mobile phone coverage 
expanded and high grade, flexible broadband 
services delivered to regional businesses and 
communities.  

It will underpin access to various public and 
private services in regional WA (emergency 
services, telehealth etc), whilst also improving 
liveability and connectivity.

The Commission has also worked with AARNet 
and other providers to advocate for improved 
fibre distribution and access in the Murchison 
and Mingenew for science (SKA and Mingenew 
Space Precinct) and community outcomes.

In 2021-22 the Commission also commenced 
an update of the Mid West Digital Strategy and 
Roadmap, originally produced in 2016 following the 
release of the Mid West Regional Blueprint in 2015.  

This update acknowledges the many infrastructure 
investments to date and reset priorities based on 
global trends and changing technologies.

Fit for purpose solutions for underserviced 
sections of the region remains a key focus for the 
Commission.  

An example of this was the funding allocated by 
the federal government to deliver Fibre to the 
Premise at the Murchison Settlement, which is 
severely constrained by the surrounding SKA 
radio quiet zone restrictions. 

The Commission advocated strongly for this 
outcome and continues to work closely with 
stakeholders to leverage other benefits for the 
Murchison resulting from its proximity to the SKA.

The Commission continues to play a strong 
advocacy role in conjunction with DPIRD, with 
multiple Federal Government submissions aimed 
at improvement of regional telecommunications 
services, including the 2021 Regional 
Telecommunications Independent Review.
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Film Industry

Regional WA has experienced an uplift in screen 
industry activity and the effects of COVID-19 have 
driven a noticeable demand for authentic regional 
content and Aboriginal stories.

WA is seen as a safe place for returning to screen 
production and the Mid West region is engaging 
with building its creative economy.

The Commission works closely with Screenwest to 
generate positive social and economic outcomes 
for the region with productions accessing the WA 
Screen Fund (formerly WA Regional Film Fund).

The fund enables investments into regional 
film industry activity, building local capacity 
and contributing to the vibrancy of regional WA 
communities.

There is a particular focus on encouraging 
purchasing goods and services in the region in 
which the film is taking place, capitalising on 
tourism development opportunities, facilitating 
local employment and establishing longer term 
economic and cultural benefits in the region.

For productions accessing the WA Screen Fund,  
Screenwest request a Regional Outputs and 
Outcomes (ROO) list negotiated between the 
production and the Commission.

This enables the Commission to produce direct local 
benefits by leveraging the production in the region. 

In 2021-22, the Commission completed ROO 
agreements with documentary feature, 
Star Dreaming, and three documentary 
series; Aussie Gold Hunters, Our Law and 
Shipwreck Hunters.

The injection into the regional economy was 
approximately $342,000, collectively, with a 
combined overall spend in WA of over $3.44M.

The Commission will deliver ongoing support to 
the producers to maximise the economic impacts 
and community benefits generated by the 
productions.

The Commission also provides an on-the-ground 
liaison point for interested productions looking for 
a regional location to shoot their film and provide 
connections with the region’s creative economy.

PRESS KIT

On the frontline of the world’s largest police jurisdiction, 
First Nations police officers and cadets attempt to change

 the system from within.

SCREEN AUSTRALIA AND NATIONAL INDIGENOUS TELEVISION PRESENT, IN ASSOCIATION WITH SCREENWEST AND  
LOTTERYWEST AND THE WESTERN AUSTRALIAN SCREEN FUND, A PINK PEPPER AND PERISCOPE PICTURES PRODUCTION,  

IN ASSOCIATION WITH BLACKFELLA FILMS, NARRATED BY DEBORAH MAILMAN, DIRECTED BY PERUN BONSER.

© 2022 Pink Pepper Pty Ltd, Periscope Pictures Pty Ltd, National Indigenous Television

03
A fearless ocean adventure team dives into  

one of the planet’s most spectacular and  
remote places, bringing to life epic shipwreck 

discoveries from Australia’s Treasure Coast  
in this premium documentary series

6 x 60 min
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Workforce

Mid West Regional Skills Summit

The Commission participated in the Geraldton 
Regional Skills Summit in 2021 to help to identify 
practical actions to address the demand for skilled 
workers to support the region’s strong economy 
and maintain the global competitiveness of local 
industries.

Hosted by the Department of Education and 
Training, the Geraldton conference was one of 10 
held across regional WA after a metropolitan Skills 
Summit was held earlier in the year.

The effect of COVID 19 and Severe Tropical Cyclone 
Seroja on workforce demands were recognised 
as key challenges that required creative and 
innovative thinking to overcome.

The Summit informed a local action plan to 
address changing workforce needs in the Mid 
West, with a focus on local solutions to local issues.

The action plan identified five priority focus areas.

1. Actively identify and implement strategies to 
address skill and labour market shortages in 
the region

2. Support Mid West job seekers to gain work
3. Promote the range of incentives to employers 

to increase job opportunities in the Mid West
4. Strengthen training sector engagement with 

young people to maximise their training and 
workforce participation in the Mid West

5. Expand and promote industry and training 
sector partnership programs to provide 
jobseekers greater access the longer term 
employment opportunities 

As the lead agency to address priority action 1, 
the Commission has led an initiative to establish 
a Mid West Regional Industry Alliance, made 
up of industry, community and government 
representatives from the region.

The Alliance was established in 2022, and its role 
is to identify and facilitate the implementation of 
strategies to address local workforce development 
challenges.

Geraldton Hospitality Job Connect

To help address the regional workforce 
shortages being experienced across the tourism 
industry due to COVID-19 travel restrictions, 
Tourism Western Australia (TWA) developed the 
Hospitality Job Connect Program to connect 
local people to local jobs.

The program is a free five-day nationally 
accredited course, providing participants with 
the basic skills and competencies to confidently 
secure a job in the hospitality industry.

MWDC partnered TWA, Central Regional TAFE, 
Regional Development Australia Mid West 
Gascoyne and Tourism Geraldton Mid West to 
deliver the course in Geraldton in 2021.

The Geraldton program was comprehensive, 
providing participants with the opportunity to 
receive a sound introduction to hospitality and 
complete accredited training units that are relative 
to working in the hospitality industry.

The immersive and interactive course had 
significant industry involvement and included 
masterclasses with WA chefs Tony Howell and 
Don Hancey, customer service training, barista 
skills, safe food-handling techniques and resume 
writing support.

On day five, participants were introduced to local 
hospitality operators and prospective employers.

Twenty eight individuals participated in the course, 
16 of whom were employed by local businesses at 
the end of the program.
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4GROW EXISTING, 
AND FIND AND 
DEVELOP NEW, 
NON-RENEWABLE 

RESOURCE AND 
RELATED INDUSTRIES

Mining remains the most significant economic generator for the Mid West economy.

The sector is also extremely diverse with an array of different commodities mined, 
extracted and processed to meet domestic and international market requirements. 

The resources sector is expected to remain a mainstay driver of the Mid West regional 
economy for some time. 

Growth is anticipated across a range of resource sectors including gold, magnetite, 
vanadium and lead/silver. 

The Commission has maintained close contact with existing and potential mine 
developers and sought to leverage project investment to achieve strong regional 
economic development outcomes (such as buy local/procurement, labour supply, 
education and training linkages). 

Enabling infrastructure (such as transport, water, power, communications, land corridor 
access) will also play a key role in unlocking project potential. 

MWDC has worked with key agencies and stakeholders to identify current infrastructure 
constraints requiring attention and jointly scoped projects to fill these gaps.
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Energy Industry Activity
The Commission’s active facilitation of industry 
proponents and long-standing strategic work 
in the energy space was rewarded with funding 
support secured for key projects across the region 
over the year.

In 2021, two significant feasibility studies, 
funded by the Commonwealth Regional and 
Remote Communities Reliability Fund, began to 
investigate renewable microgrid developments 
that could support multiple Mid West 
communities.

Horizon Power is leading feasibility work to 
transition five Mid West towns (Cue, Meekatharra, 
Mount Magnet, Sandstone and Yalgoo, as well 
as Wiluna in the Goldfields-Esperance region) to 
100% renewable energy.

Mid West communities are powered through 
connections to the South West Interconnected 
Network (SWIN) and through various 
‘island arrangements’.

Island grids are used throughout the vast 
Murchison region and are typically expensive to 
run and are dependent on emissions-intensive 
fossil fuel generation.

While home to a significant mining industry, the 
Murchison region faces many challenges owing 
to its remoteness and extreme climate.

Most towns have a significant population 
challenge which affects the viability of many 
businesses and services and also of vital 
infrastructure provision.

Having an entity such as Horizon Power 
leading this feasibility work will be critical to 
quickly progressing decarbonisation in these 
marginal communities and achieving improved 
environmental and economic sustainability.

Sunrise Energy Group’s Mullewa Microgrid 
Feasibility Study Project will allow the community 
and investors to make informed decisions on 
implementing improved reliability in Mullewa.

Several Mid West grid-connected communities 
exist at the grid’s fringes, and are supplied by 
very long feeder lines and encounter significant 
reliability issues.  Mullewa, in particular, is 
prone to extended outages and remediation 
is a significant focus of the network operator, 
Western Power.

In late 2021 Western Power sought registrations 
of interest to understand the capability and 
capacity of the market to develop a disconnected 
microgrid pilot in the Mid West.

A modular network of remote power systems, 
including stand-alone power systems and 
disconnected microgrids is being examined as 
a potentially more cost-effective way to supply 
smaller regional communities in Western Power’s 
service area. 

Western Power’s pilot could provide industry 
development opportunities for local 
manufacturers and providers.

In 2022, Western Power also commissioned 
Australia’s largest renewable microgrid in Kalbarri, 
a town that historically had poor power reliability.  

The microgrid features battery energy storage, 
with additional supply provided through 
renewable energy from residential rooftop solar 
and a local wind farm. 

The design allows for future renewable 
generation sources to be integrated as they 
become available.

The microgrid will provide more power certainty 
for residents, businesses and the tourism industry 
and is considered a blueprint for delivering more 
renewable energy solutions throughout WA.

The Commission has played a long-standing role 
in informing energy solutions for the Kalbarri 
community via its Mid West Energy Strategy.

The Commission will continue to advocate for 
and support the development of high quality, 
cost effective and reliable energy sources that 
are fit for purpose and able to support economic 
development in the region.
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Water Opportunities
Water, and associated water infrastructure, is 
critical to support both the growth of regional 
communities, as well as the development and 
expansion of existing and emerging industries. 

Climate change is reducing water availability, 
as rainfall trends and aquifer recharge rates 
decline.  Simultaneously, the region is facing 
increasing demand, as a growing major regional 
project pipeline is further limiting available future 
water supplies.

With the Mid West reliant upon increasingly 
constrained groundwater resources, the 
Commission undertook an assessment of the 
water availability, challenges and opportunities 
to support growth and development across the 
Mid West region, including the potential for 
a desalination facility at Oakajee to provide a 
climate-independent, reliable and high-quality 
source of water for existing and new users.

Additionally, the impacts of drought on water 
resources across the northern agricultural region 
were assessed as part of the Drought Vulnerability 
Assessment for the Regional Drought Resilience 
Plan (RDRP), highlighting issues and potential 
projects.

The work can be summarised in the following key 
outcomes.

• Water is a key enabler of growth.
• Additional water supplies will be required for 

Geraldton by 2035 and a greater supply of 
non-potable water is needed now to support 
industry growth and development.

• Climate change and declining rainfall 
is limiting the amount of water that 
groundwater aquifers can sustainably provide 
into the future.

• Desalination is an option being investigated 
by the State to support an emerging 
hydrogen industry, which can provide 
significant regional benefits for other 
sectors. The Commission is working across 
government on this issue to ensure the 
region can be aligned to realise potential 
opportunities.

• Two areas across the region (in the Murchison 
and Northampton sub-regions) have the 
potential to provide additional water supplies 
for communities, pastoralists and irrigation 
projects.  Local water investigations are 
required to better understand the amount 
of water available for use and its quality.  
The Commission examined avenues to deliver 
and fund potential projects in these areas and 
will undertake further consultation with the 
community should these projects progress.

• Methods to increase the use of treated 
wastewater were identified, and progress 
is being made to reduce barriers to 
re-use for agriculture and industry.  It is 
important to foster water conservation and 
recycling initiatives to reduce demand on 
groundwater supplies.

• Water was a key theme that emerged 
from stakeholder consultation on the 
RDRP and the Commission utilised further 
technical knowledge to identify actions to 
build drought resilience across the region.  
The actions address risks by ensuring water 
supply security, securing new water sources 
and focusing on technological advances to 
improve water reuse and efficiency.

As part of its focus on enabling the delivery of 
major projects in the Mid West, and supporting 
regional liveability and growth, the Commission 
continues to work with industry, Local and State 
Government partners to identify and address 
water-related constraints in the region.
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The Mid West Mining Equipment and Technology 
Services project has had a successful 2021-22 as 
rebuilds of Rio Tinto’s Pilbara-based heavy machinery 
continued at the WesTrac Geraldton facility.

Feasibility studies identified that WesTrac’s 
Perth and Pilbara facilities were at capacity and 
unable to accommodate the additional repairs 
and maintenance required by Rio Tinto’s mining 
operations.  The Geraldton facility receives up to 
12 dozer rebuilds annually, from various Pilbara 
operations, with up to 54 machines committed 
between 2021 and 2025.

In the first half of 2022, a further four dozers and 
graders have been rebuilt in Geraldton, resulting 
in $2.89 million flowing on to the many Mid West 
vendors utilised by Westrac.

The project was shortlisted for the Institute of Public 
Administration Australia WA’s Achievement Awards, 
in the ‘Best Practice in Collaboration Between 
Government and Non-Government Organisations’ 
category.

Other Enabling Infrastructure
The Mid West Secondary Grain Freight Routes 
Project will receive initial funding of $22.4 million 
from the 2022-23 Federal budget to bring identified 
high priority roads up to standard.

The project is critical to supporting the success of 
farmers and producers in the region by increasing 
vehicle capacity, reducing maintenance costs, travel 
time savings and road network efficiencies which 
ultimately support the Mid West’s agricultural 
sector’s regional competitiveness.

The initial funding commences an estimated 
$78 million capital works program over a 10-year 
timeframe to bring the Mid West grain freight 
network up to a fit for purpose standard for current 
and anticipated future needs.

The project working group, made up of the 
Commission, the ten local governments in the 
Northern Country Zone of WA Local Government 
Association,  Main Roads WA , Coastal and 
North Midlands Regional Roads Groups and  Regional 
Development Australia Mid West Gascoyne, has 
been working together for several years to deliver 
freight efficiencies, economic growth, economic 
diversification and road safety and maintenance for 
the region.

The announcement of this initial tranche of funding 
has been welcomed, and the Commission will work 
with project partners to advocate for further funding 
to deliver future stages of this program.

Mining Equipment and Technology Services
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5ORGANISATIONAL
EXCELLENCE

The Commission has provided a central point of coordination and contact for 
various economic development and community stakeholders within and outside 
the Mid West. 

The agency worked in partnership with all tiers of government, business and the 
community, providing information and advice to maximise economic development 
and employment opportunities for the region.

The Commission has worked with stakeholders to raise awareness of the Mid West 
region, its natural advantages and opportunities and the challenges limiting 
further development. 

The Commission shared its networks and knowledge of hard and soft regional 
infrastructure to help activate projects and support a number of current and legacy 
State Government funding schemes.
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State Government Budget Briefings
The Commission, in partnership with 
Women Inspiring Better Business, hosted 
Hon. Alannah MacTiernan MLC, Minister for 
Regional Development to discuss the 2021-22 
State Budget at a briefing event in 2021.

Minister MacTiernan delivered the State Budget 
presentation in Geraldton, detailing billions in 
investment to create quality local jobs, fund a 
pipeline of infrastructure works and deliver key 
services such as health and education.

The Budget included a $9.1 billion investment in 
regional infrastructure and $4.2 billion through 
Royalties for Regions, including $627 million in 
regional election commitments and other new 
regional initiatives.

Delivering the Plan for Geraldton, the 
State Government allocated further support 
for jobs, TAFE, health, schools, regional roads, 
tourism and community facilities.

The Commission also co-hosted the 
2022-23 State Budget briefing event with the 
Mid West Chamber of Commerce and Industry in 
May 2022.

Over 70 attendees heard from Hon. Rita Saffioti, 
Minister for Transport, Planning and Ports, on 
what is in store for local businesses, households 
and the wider economy.

The 2022-23 Budget will continue the 
State Government’s work to diversify the 
Mid West economy, create local jobs and support 
tourism.  

It included $332 million for a major upgrade 
of Geraldton Port and bringing regional road 
maintenance jobs in-house to Main Roads WA, 
creating 490 jobs in regional WA and including 
an upgrade of the Geraldton depot.

Blueprint Review and Brand Refresh
The Commission is conducting a high-level 
review of its Regional Investment Blueprint, 
combined with a Brand Refresh exercise.  

This exercise aims to identify past and present 
achievements, current and future investable 
projects, and redefine the Commission’s brand 
proposition.  

It is important that our branding successfully 
portrays the Commission as the agency 
formed and designed to enable development 
opportunities and transform the Mid West region 
for better economic, social and environmental 
outcomes. 

The project team, working with external 
consultants, identified a number of actions for the 
Commission to implement, including a renewed 
focus on investment promotion and facilitation.

Going forward, the Commission plans to:

1. Conclude the creative concept development 
and marketing plan for its refreshed brand.

2. Establish the Commission’s investment 
facilitation assets, including the design of a 
new website with an accessible knowledge 
database that gives relevant and current 
information to potential stakeholders on the 
investment process in the Mid West.

3. Establish more strategic stakeholder 
engagement and planning processes, 
including development of an improved client 
relationship management process to better 
support industry, community and all three 
tiers of government in the identification 
and realisation of investment opportunities, 
and management of potential barriers 
and constraints. 
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Organisation Project
Funding 
(ex GST)

Fenix Newhaul Pty Ltd World-leading simulator technology to enhance 
the road train driver learning experience. $250,000

Wajarri Yamaji Aboriginal 
Corporation

Support the development of a stand-alone 
Aboriginal owned and managed business which 
will provide employment, training and skills 
development for local Aboriginal people. One key 
activity will be to conduct tours from Cue to Walga 
Rock and the Wilgie Mia Ochre Mine.

$216,366

Nufab Industries Pty Ltd

Computer Numeric Control High-Definition 
Plasma Cutting machine for precision cutting of 
high-grade thick metal plates to make custom 
parts used in the manufacturing of market-leading 
farming machinery.

$146,700

Rainstar Holdings Pty Ltd 
T/A Wooleen Station

Relocate and refurbish 100-year-old shearer's shed 
kitchen and transform it into the Wooleen Station 
Visitors Building to include a merchandise outlet, 
hospitality service, interpretive space, art gallery 
and meeting room.

$100,000

New Leaf Connect

Customised trailer and fit out to enhance the 
customer experience while on tours, custom trips 
and experiences in the Mid-West and to allow 
additional storage space for private transport jobs.

$11,051

TOTAL $724,117

Regional Economic Development Grants 

Five Mid West projects to create local jobs, support skills development and boost local tourism 
shared in $724,117 grant funding under round four of the State Government’s Regional Economic 
Development (RED) Grants.
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RED Grant Case Study

Burnt Barrel Outback BrewBQ  
business expansion

Burnt Barrel is an outback barbecue food 
destination in the Shire of Chapman Valley, 
serving over 20,000 guests per annum.

The business evolved its offering during the 
COVID-19 restrictions to provide a unique 
‘destination stop’ for young families and grey 
nomads travelling domestically, utilising a 
$67,340 Regional Economic Development grant 
to create a new enclosed area at the restaurant 
and a large-scale nature-based playground.

With camping holidays currently in extraordinarily 
high demand, the venue recognised an 
opportunity to capitalise on the increase in 
intrastate travel to northern Western Australia 
(Kalbarri, Shark Bay, Exmouth).

By capturing these target markets on their way 
north and offering an area for the kids to get 
out and stretch their leg and adults to relax and 
have a fantastic meal, as well as ample parking 
for caravans, Burnt Barrel has given travellers a 
reason to stay in the area a little longer.

Following the restaurant enhancements, 
Burnt Barrel upgraded their Wi-Fi and 
implemented smart ordering technology 
(scanning a QR code from your phone while 
sitting at a table to order and pay for food / drinks).  

This contactless ordering assisted with 
maintaining social distancing measures and 
alleviated bottlenecks at the cash register and bar.

The business also commissioned a local artist to 
create a 20x5m entrance mural depicting the 
Chapman Valley.  

Since completing the project and re-aligning 
its marketing strategies to focus on domestic 
visitors, Burnt Barrel has seen a 35% increase 
in tourist visitation and 15% increase in local 
visitation and 25% increase in sales overall.

This has allowed the business to employ 
three new part-time staff members, as well as 
sustaining its staffing levels pre-COVID.

The project contributes to an overall goal of 
local businesses to develop the Chapman Valley 
as an emerging tourism hub, similar to Perth’s 
Swan Valley. 

RED Grant Case Study

Improved telecommunications at 
Coronation Beach

The Shire of Chapman Valley has established 
telecommunications infrastructure at the 
world-renowned Coronation Beach wind surfing 
location, to provide free public Wi-Fi and internet 
services, with a $23,300 RED Grant.

The isolated beach location is visited by 
thousands of people each year and was 
experiencing growing demand to provide 
internet and Wi-Fi signal to support reliable and 
adequate communication in the event of an 
emergency, and for businesses, campground 
users and day visitors.

Providing improved telecommunications 
at Coronation Beach has enabled food and 
water-sport businesses that operate from the 
area to establish a consistent online presence 
(managing enquiries and processing EFT 
transactions in real time) with strong social media 
marketing options.

The area is currently utilised for large-scale wind 
surfing and kite surfing events and has enjoyed 
international promotion as visitors have shared 
their images and stories with the world through 
social media. Sports tourism at Coronation Beach 
has significant growth potential.

The capacity to attract larger crowd numbers and 
more events into the future is further enabled by 
the ability to support real-time and live-stream 
event promotion.

The telecommunications infrastructure 
enabled by the grant also contributes to a 
Coronation Beach Masterplan the Shire of 
Chapman Valley is currently developing to 
activate this location.
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Organisation Project
Funding 
(ex GST)

Geraldton Hockey Association Geraldton Hockey Ground upgrades $220,000

Short Term Accommodation for Youth Quarry Street Youth Facility refurbishment $200,000

Denison Bowling Club Denison Bowling Club upgrades $90,000

Pollinators Visual display equipment $80,000

Centacare Family Services 12-seater bus $70,000

Geraldton Streetwork Aboriginal 
Corporation Upgrades to storage areas $58,000

Wandina Playgroup Wandina Playgroup outdoor room $50,000

Bundiyarra Aboriginal Community 
Aboriginal Corporation

Bundiyarra Cultural Precinct - performing arts 
stage $44,000

Geraldton Streetwork Aboriginal 
Corporation

Gunnado Farm Project - landscaping and 
plumbing $43,000

Geraldton Community Toy Library Geraldton Community Toy Library expansion $40,000

Geraldton Amateur Basketball 
Association Solar power system $40,000

Funtavia Portable performance trailer $40,000

Geraldton Bowling Club Car park upgrade $30,000

MEEDAC Vehicle for Motorvate Driving Program $26,000

Access to Leisure and Sport (ATLAS) Equipment (wheelchairs, shower chair, bed 
transfer, kayaks) $24,500

Woorree Park BMX Club Track resurfacing $24,000

Friends of Geraldton Gardens Geraldton Botanical Garden works $20,000

Meekatharra Community Resource 
and Visitor Centre Furniture for fit out of new office $15,500

Kalbarri Men's Shed Dust extractor $15,000

Marine Rescue Group Security shed $14,000

Wonthella Bowling Club Equipment for Geraldton Bowling Club and 
Wonthella Bowling Club $14,000

Chapman Valley Historical Society Nanson Heritage Centre upgrades $10,000

Geraldton Rovers Soccer Club Equipment and upgrades to security system $10,000

Yulella Aboriginal Corporation Equipment for Yulella Community Garden $10,000

Geraldton Yacht Club Junior rescue boat $7,500

Walkaway Station Museum Walkaway Station Museum upgrades $5,000

26 PROJECTS TOTAL $1,200,500

Small Grants Program 
The State Government committed to fund a wide range of small grants throughout WA in 2021-22.  
The Small Grants Program provides funding to support local community-driven projects under the 
Minister for Regional Development portfolio. 

The Commission, in partnership with DPIRD administers the funding within the Mid West region.
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Small Grants Program Highlights

Geraldton Hockey Stadium

The State Government contributed $220,000 for 
turf upgrades at the Geraldton Hockey Stadium.

The funding was part of an $840,000 project 
which delivered two new synthetic turf playing 
surfaces to cater for current demand and growth 
potential in hockey, and allow for the introduction 
of other sports to the facility.

Hockey is an exciting spectator sport, and the 
Mid West is a premier regional centre for the 
sport in WA, consistently producing State and 
National players, including multiple Olympian 
Fergus Kavanagh

The State Government recognises that sporting 
events and activities have the potential to be a 
major tourism drawcard and the hosting of both 
major and minor events can be economically 
beneficial to the region.

Wandina Play Group

$50,000 in funding has been delivered by the 
State Government to the Wandina Playgroup to 
provide the volunteer-run organisation with their 
own purpose designed facilities for the first time.

Located at the Wandina Primary School and next 
door to the Derna Park nature playground, the 
facility caters for a growing membership base and 
provide greater opportunities for engagement 
without being limited by inclement weather. 

Having a permanent meeting place for the group 
enables a sense of security and helps to build a 
sense of belonging, as parents support and guide 
each other through the challenges and triumphs 
of parenthood.

Short Term Accommodation for Youth

The State Government contributed $200,000 
to Short Term Accommodation for Youth (STAY) 
in Geraldton.

STAY plays a crucial role in the region, providing 
supported accommodation, advocacy, access 
to education options and life skills to transition 
young people from crisis to independence.

After 30 years in its Quarry Street facility 
without significant building improvements, the 
not-for-profit organisation was able to progress 
its renovation and expansion plans, to ensure it 
remains fit for purpose for residents and staff.

This funding enabled STAY to move from the 
planning stages to building, with two repurposed 
bedrooms for young people, new staff facilities 
including an office hub, kitchen, bathroom and 
much-needed counselling room. 

Friends of Geraldton Gardens

Friends of Geraldton Gardens (FroGGs) received 
$20,000 from the State Government to progress 
Stage 2 of the Geraldton Botanical Garden at 
Maitland Park.

FroGGs is a community group working with the 
City of Greater Geraldton to create a botanical 
garden that realises, sustains and interprets 
the cultural and natural values of the botanical 
heritage of the Mid West.

Stage 2 of this project highlights a spectacular 
cross section of the region’s diverse and unique 
flora, commonly found in the Chapman River 
regional park.
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Actual results versus budget targets

Financial Targets

2021-22
Target (1) 

$000

2021-22
Actual 
$000

Variation (2) 

$000

Total cost of services (expense limit)  
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income) 2,641 2,455 (186)

Net cost of services 
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income) 2,391 2,427 36

Total equity 
(sourced from Statement of Financial Position) 1,827 2,153 326

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows) 0 75 75

Approved salary expense level 218 203 (15)

Note:

1. As specified in the Minister approved Section 40 budget estimates.

2.   The variation is the difference between the Target and Actual for each line item.

Working Cash Targets

2022
Agreed 

limit ($000)

2021
Target (1) / Actual (2)

($000)

Variation
($000)

Agreed working cash limit (at Budget) 51 51 0

Agreed working cash limit (at Actuals) 41 (33) (74)

Note:

1. Target to reflect the Commission’s anticipated working cash for the 2020-21 financial year.

2. Actual to reflect the actual working cash held at the close of the financial year.
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators

The key effectiveness indicators measure the extent of impact of the delivery of services on the 
achievement of desired outcomes.  The key efficiency indicators monitor the relationship between the 
services delivered and the resources used to produce the service.

Key Effectiveness Indicators

The Commission’s effectiveness indicators are measured through an annual client perceptions survey, 
conducted by independent market research company.

Surveys were sent to 525 clients that had contact with the Commission during 2021-22, with 
124 completed surveys returned (response rate of 23.6%).

To support the balanced economic and social development of the region, the Commission works to 
help reduce obstacles to growth; develop new business opportunities; increase trade activity; and retain 
staff / expand employment opportunities.  Accordingly, clients were asked questions regarding business 
development outcomes that were facilitated by contact with the Commission.

Key Efficiency Indicators

Total actual cost for the Commission’s sole service area were well below target.  This is likely due mainly 
to DPIRD providing some services at no cost.

Target
2021-22

Actual
2021-22

Average cost per hour $153 $182

71ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22



FINANCIALSCONTENTS OVERVIEW OUR PEOPLE PERFORMANCE

MID WEST DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION72



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 Certification of Financial Statements     74
 Statement of Comprehensive Income     75
 Statement of Financial Position      76
 Statement of  Changes in Equity      77
 Statement of Cashflows       78
 Notes to the Financial Statements      79
 Certification of Key Performance Indicators    96

Detailed Information in Support of Key Performance Indicators  97

Ministerial Directives         100

Other Financial Disclosures        100

Governance Disclosures        101

Board and Committee Remuneration      102

Other Legal Requirements        103

Government Policy Requirements       106

DISCLOSURES AND  
LEGAL COMPLIANCE

73ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22



Mid West Development Commission – 30 June 2022

2

Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Certification of Financial Statements
For the reporting period ended 30 June 2022

The accompanying financial statements of the Mid West Development Commission have been prepared in 
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to 
present fairly the financial transactions for the reporting period ended 30 June 2022 and the financial position 
as at 30 June 2022.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in 
the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Siska Mansfield
Chief Finance Officer
20 September 2022

Nils Hay
Chief Executive Officer
20 September 2022

Rob Houwen
Chairman of the Board
20 September 2022
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2

Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Certification of Financial Statements
For the reporting period ended 30 June 2022

The accompanying financial statements of the Mid West Development Commission have been prepared in 
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to 
present fairly the financial transactions for the reporting period ended 30 June 2022 and the financial position 
as at 30 June 2022.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in 
the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Siska Mansfield
Chief Finance Officer
20 September 2022

Nils Hay
Chief Executive Officer
20 September 2022

Rob Houwen
Chairman of the Board
20 September 2022
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  Notes 2022   2021 
COST OF SERVICES   $'000   $'000 
Expenses         
Employee benefits expense 2.1(a) 260   248 
Supplies and services 2.3 2,092   1,431 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  4.1, 4.2 12   27 
Grants and subsidies 2.2 -   66 
Other expenses 2.3 91   4 
Total cost of services   2,455   1,776 
          
Income         
Other income 3.2 28   251 
Total income     28   251 
          
NET COST OF SERVICES   2,427   1,525 
          
Income from State Government         
Income from other public sector entities 3.1 601   620 
Resources received   3.1 1,646   1,198 
Total income from State Government   2,247   1,818 
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD   (180)   293 
          
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)         
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss         
Changes in asset revaluation reserve  8.9 240   - 
Total other comprehensive income/(loss)   240   - 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD   60   293 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Financial Position  
As at 30 June 2022 
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  Notes 2022   2021 
ASSETS   $'000   $'000 
Current Assets         
Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 52   70 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.1 673   580 
Receivables 5.1 18   276 
Assets held for Distribution 5.2 2,240   2,000 
Total Current Assets   2,983   2,926 
          
Non-Current Assets         
Amounts receivable for services 5.3 153   153 
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 4.1 6   13 
Intangible assets 4.2 5   10 
Total Non-Current Assets   164   176 
TOTAL ASSETS   3,147   3,102 
          
LIABILITIES         
Current Liabilities         
Payables 5.4 11   47 
Employee related provisions 2.1(b) 17   2 
Total Current Liabilities   28   49 
          
Non-Current Liabilities         
Amounts due to the Treasurer 5.5 960   960 
Total Non-Current Liabilities   966   960 
TOTAL LIABILITIES   994   1,009 
          
NET ASSETS   2,153   2,093 
          
EQUITY         
Contributed equity 8.9 356   356 
Reserves 8.9 1,519   1,279 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)   278   458 
TOTAL EQUITY   2,153   2,093 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

.
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  Notes 2022   2021 
ASSETS   $'000   $'000 
Current Assets         
Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 52   70 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.1 673   580 
Receivables 5.1 18   276 
Assets held for Distribution 5.2 2,240   2,000 
Total Current Assets   2,983   2,926 
          
Non-Current Assets         
Amounts receivable for services 5.3 153   153 
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 4.1 6   13 
Intangible assets 4.2 5   10 
Total Non-Current Assets   164   176 
TOTAL ASSETS   3,147   3,102 
          
LIABILITIES         
Current Liabilities         
Payables 5.4 11   47 
Employee related provisions 2.1(b) 17   2 
Total Current Liabilities   28   49 
          
Non-Current Liabilities         
Amounts due to the Treasurer 5.5 960   960 
Total Non-Current Liabilities   966   960 
TOTAL LIABILITIES   994   1,009 
          
NET ASSETS   2,153   2,093 
          
EQUITY         
Contributed equity 8.9 356   356 
Reserves 8.9 1,519   1,279 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)   278   458 
TOTAL EQUITY   2,153   2,093 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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  Notes 
Contributed 

equity Reserves Accumulated 
surplus Total equity 

    $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Balance at 1 July 2020   356 1,279 165 1,800 
            
Surplus/(deficit)    -  - 293 293 
Total comprehensive income for the period    - - 293 293 
            
Balance at 30 June 2021 8.9 356 1,279 458 2,093 
            
Balance at 1 July 2021   356 1,279 458 2,093 
            
Surplus/(deficit)       (180) (180) 
Other comprehensive income 8.9   240  - 240 
Total comprehensive income for the period    - 240 (180) 60 
            
Balance at 30 June 2022 8.9 356 1,519 278 2,153 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 

77ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22



Mid West Development Commission – 30 June 2022 
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

7 
 

 

    2022   2021 
  Notes $'000   $'000 
          
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT         
Funds from other public sector entities   601   620 
Net cash provided by State Government   601   620 
Utilised as follows:         
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES         
Payments         
Employee benefits   (242)   (337) 
Supplies and services   (480)   (278) 
Grants and subsidies   -   (66) 
GST payments on purchases   (44)   (19) 
Other payments    (90)   (4) 
          
Receipts          
GST receipts on sales   25    - 
GST receipts from taxation authority   3   21 
Other receipts   302   1 
Net cash used in operating activities   (526)   (682) 
          
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES         
Payments         
Purchase of non-current assets   -   (7) 
Net cash used in investing activities   -   (7) 
          
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES         
Payments         
Principal elements of lease payments   -   (9) 
Net cash used in financing activities   -   (9) 
          
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   75   (78) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period   650   728 
          
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 6.1 725   650 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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    2022   2021 
  Notes $'000   $'000 
          
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT         
Funds from other public sector entities   601   620 
Net cash provided by State Government   601   620 
Utilised as follows:         
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES         
Payments         
Employee benefits   (242)   (337) 
Supplies and services   (480)   (278) 
Grants and subsidies   -   (66) 
GST payments on purchases   (44)   (19) 
Other payments    (90)   (4) 
          
Receipts          
GST receipts on sales   25    - 
GST receipts from taxation authority   3   21 
Other receipts   302   1 
Net cash used in operating activities   (526)   (682) 
          
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES         
Payments         
Purchase of non-current assets   -   (7) 
Net cash used in investing activities   -   (7) 
          
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES         
Payments         
Principal elements of lease payments   -   (9) 
Net cash used in financing activities   -   (9) 
          
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   75   (78) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period   650   728 
          
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 6.1 725   650 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. Basis of Preparation  
The Mid West Development Commission (Commission) is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the 
State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate parent. The Commission is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is 
not its principal objective).  

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been included in the 'Overview' 
which does not form part of these financial statements.  

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority of the Commission 
on 20 September 2022.  

Statement of compliance  
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with: 

1 The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)  

2 The Treasurer's Instructions (Tls)  

3 Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) - Simplified Disclosures 

4 Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been applied. 

The FMA and the TIs take precedence over AASs. Several AAS are modified by the Instructions to vary 
application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required and has had a material or significant 
financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  

Basis of preparation  
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and 
using the historical cost convention. Certain balances will apply a different measurement basis (such as the 
fair value basis). Where this is the case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. 
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).  

Accounting of Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except that 
the:  

(a) amount of GST incurred by the Agency as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation 
Office (ATO) is recognised as part of an asset’s cost of acquisition or as part of an item of expense; and 

(b) receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST components of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
are classified as operating cash flows. 

Contributed Equity 
Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers 
in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, as 
designated as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions 
by Owners made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed 
Equity. 

Comparative information 
Except when an AAS permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of the 
previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.  AASB 1060 provides relief from 
presenting comparatives for: 

• Property, Plant and Equipment reconciliations and  

• Intangible Asset reconciliations 
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Judgements and estimates  
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented. 
The significant judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed 
in the notes where amounts affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  

2. Use of Our Funding  
Expenses incurred in the delivery of services  
This section provides additional information about how the Commission's funding is applied and the accounting 
policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. The primary 
expenses incurred by the Commission in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are: 

  Notes 
Employee benefits expenses 2.1(a) 
Employee benefits provisions 2.1(b) 
Grants and subsidies 2.2 
Other expenditure 2.3 

2.1.  (a) Employee benefits expenses  
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Employee benefits 230   220 
Superannuation - defined contribution plans 30   28 
Total employee benefits expenses 260   248 
Add:  AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits  -   9 
Net employee benefits 260   257 

Employee Benefits: include wages and salaries, accrued and paid leave entitlements and paid sick leave. 

Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBs, or other 
superannuation funds. 

AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits: non-monetary employee benefits, that are employee benefits expenses, 
predominantly relate to the provision of Vehicle and Housing benefits are measured at the cost incurred by the 
Commission.  

2.1.  (b) Employee related provisions 
  2022   2021 
Current $'000   $'000 
Employee benefits provisions       
Annual leave 17   - 
Long service leave (2)   - 
Deferred salary scheme 2   2 
  17   2 
Other provisions       
Employment on-costs -   - 
Total current employee related provisions 17   2 
        
Total employee related provisions 23   2 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long 
service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the 
services are delivered. 

Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after the end of the reporting period.   

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in relation 
to services provided by employees up to the reporting date.  
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Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities 
as the Commission does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period.  

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because 
the Commission has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service.  

The provision for long service leave is calculated at present value as the Commission does not expect to wholly 
settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is measured taking into account the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 
These payments are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, and 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.  

Deferred salary scheme liabilities: Classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  

Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment 
of employment on-costs including workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of 
expected future payments.  

Employment on-costs, including workers' compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. 
Employment on-costs are included as part of 'other expenses, Note 2.3 (apart from the unwinding of the 
discount (finance cost))' and are not included as part of the Commission's 'employee benefits expense'. The 
related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision'. 

  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Employment on cost provision       
Carrying amount at start of period -   1 
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised 1   (1) 
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits  -    - 
Carrying amount at end of period 1   - 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty- long service leave  
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other 
factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.  

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Commission's long service leave provision. 
These include: 
• expected future salary rates  
• discount rates  
• employee retention rates; and  
• expected future payments 

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave 
provision. Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is 
recognised as employee benefits expense. 
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2.2. Grants and Subsidies  
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Non Public organisations  -   43 
Local Government agencies  -   23 
Total recurrent grants and subsidies -   66 

Transactions in which the Commission provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour 
to another party without receiving approximately equal value in return are categorised as 'Grant expenses'. 
Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.  

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding 
their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose 
and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.  

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in 
the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. They include transactions such as: grants, subsidies, 
personal benefit payments made in cash to individuals, other transfer payments made to public sector 
agencies, local government, non-government schools, and community groups.  

2.3. Other expenditure  
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Supplies and services       
Board fees 94   87 
Communications 2   2 
Consultants and contractors 309   101 
Consumables 7   10 
Travel 20   14 
Other 14   19 
Resources provided free of charge by DPIRD (a) 1,646   1,198 
Total supplies and services expense 2,092   1,431 
        
Other expenses       
Employment on-costs -   (1) 
Other expenses 7   5 
Total other expenses 91   4 
Total other expenditure 2,183   1,435 

(a) Support Services provided by Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development to support the 
Commission in the fulfilment of its statutory functions and obligations under the Regional Development Commission 
Act 1993. See note 3.1 Income from State Government.  

Supplies and services expenses are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are 
incurred. The carrying amounts of any materials held for distribution are expensed when the materials are 
distributed.  

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations.  
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Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations.  

  

Mid West Development Commission – 30 June 2022 
Notes to the financial statements 
 

12 
 

3. Our Funding Sources  
How we obtain our funding  
This section provides additional information about how the Commission obtains its funding and the relevant 
accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary income 
received by the Commission and the relevant notes are: 

  Notes 
Income from State Government 3.1 
Other income 3.2 

3.1. Income from State Government  
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Income received from other public sector entities during the period:       
- Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development - operational  
   funding 601   620 
Total grants and subsidies 601   620 
        
Resources received from other public sector entities during the period:       
 - Services received free of charge (a) 1,646   1,198 
Total resources received 1,646   1,198 
        
Total income from State Government 2,247   1,818 

(a) Support Services provided by Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development to support the 
Commission in the fulfilment of its statutory functions and obligations under the Regional Development Commission 
Act 1993. See note 2.3 Other expenditure.  

Income from other public sector agencies is recognised as income when the Commission has satisfied its 
performance obligations under the funding agreement. If there are no performance obligations, income will be 
recognised when the Commission receives the funds.  

Resources received from other public sector entities are recognised as income (and assets or expenses) 
equivalent to the fair value of the assets, or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and 
which would have been purchased if not donated.  

3.2. Other income 
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Total other income 28   251 

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting from the proceeds on 
disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in 
profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income (from the proceeds of sale). 
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4. Key Assets 
Assets the Commission utilises for economic benefit or service potential  
This section includes information regarding the key assets the Commission utilises to gain economic benefits 
or provide service potential. The section sets out both the key accounting policies and financial information 
about the performance of these assets: 

  Notes 
Property, plant and equipment 4.1 
Intangibles  4.2  
Right-of-use assets 4.3 
Total key assets   

4.1. Property, plant and equipment 

Year ended 30 June 2022 
Furniture and 

fixtures Office equipment Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 
        
1 July 2021       
Gross carrying amount  88   15   103  
Accumulated depreciation ( 84) ( 6) (90) 
Carrying amount at start of period 4 9 13 
        
Depreciation (4) (3) (7) 
        
Carrying amount at 30 June 2022 - 6 6 
Gross carrying amount 88 15 103 
Accumulated depreciation (88) (9) (97) 

 
Initial recognition  
Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset 
is acquired for no cost or significantly less than fair value, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of 
acquisition. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which 
are significant in total). 

Subsequent measurement  
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Significant assumptions and judgements: The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating 
fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated 
economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear 
distinction between market type assets and existing use assets. 

4.1.1. Depreciation and impairment  
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 4   9 
Office equipment 3   3 
Total depreciation for the period 7   12 

As at 30 June 2022, there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment. All surplus 
assets at 30 June 2022 have either been classified as assets held for sale or have been written-off.  
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4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment (continued) 
Finite useful lives  
All property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. The exceptions to this 
rule include assets held for sale and land.  

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset's value, less any 
estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset 
classes for current and prior years are included in the table below: 

- Furniture, fixtures and fittings 5 years 

- Office equipment 5 years 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual 
reporting period, and adjustments should be made where appropriate.  

Impairment  
Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where there is an indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset 
is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.  

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised 
through profit or loss.  

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a 
revaluation decrement through other comprehensive income.  

As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued specialised assets 
is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value.  

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased 
to its recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset's carrying amount above what 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised 
in prior years.  

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset's depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each 
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects 
the level of consumption or expiration of the asset's future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment 
risk from declining replacement costs. 

4.2. Intangible assets  

Year ended 30 June 2022 
Computer 

software Total 
  $'000 $'000 
1 July 2021     
Gross carrying amount 16 16 
Accumulated amortisation (6) (6) 
Carrying amount at start of period 10 10 
      
Amortisation expense (5) (5) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2022 5 5 
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4.2 Intangible assets (continued) 
Initial recognition  
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at significantly less than fair value, the 
cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.  

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets at a 
minimum of $5,000 that comply with the recognition criteria as per AASB 138.57 (as noted above) are 
capitalised. 

Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.  

Costs incurred in the research phase of a project are immediately expensed. 

Subsequent measurement  
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, requiring the asset to be carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

4.2.1. Amortisation and impairment  
  2022   2021 
Charge for the period $'000   $'000 
Computer software 5   6 
Total amortisation for the period 5   6 

As at 30 June 2022 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets. 

The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. 
At the end of the reporting period there were no Intangible assets not yet available for use.  

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at rates that allocate the asset's 
value over its estimated useful life. All intangible assets controlled by the Commission have a finite useful life 
and zero residual value. Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.  

The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are: 

Asset Useful life: years 

Software (a) 3 to 5 years 

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of related hardware. 

Impairment of intangible assets  
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for Impairment annually or when an Indication of impairment 
is identified. The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1. 

 

5. Other Assets and Liabilities  
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Commission's controlled operations and 
includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations:  

  Note 
Receivables 5.1 
Asset held for distribution 5.2 
Amounts receivable for services 5.3 
Payables 5.4 
Amounts due to the Treasurer 5.5 
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5.1. Receivables  
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
GST receivable 17   1 
Other debtors 1   275 
Total current receivables 18   276 

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible amounts 
(i.e. impairment). The carrying amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for 
settlement within 30 days.  

5.2. Assets held for Distribution 
Following a Cabinet decision in 2012, the Commission had agreed in principle to contribute its land to the 
Stage Two development of the Batavia Cost Marina to Landcorp. When this occurs the Commission's 
associated borrowing from Treasury ($960,000) will be repaid by the project (note 5.5). The land was 
previously reported as Property, plant and equipment but has been reclassified to assets held for distribution 
consistent with the current years treatment. 

  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
        
Land held for distribution at end of period 2,240   2,000 

 
Assets held for distribution are measured at fair value at the date the decision to distribute is made. Land is 
independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) and 
recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset's fair value at 
the end of the reporting period. 
 
Land was revalued at 1 July 2021 by Landgate. The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 
2022 and recognised at 30 June 2022. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference 
to market values for land: $2,240,000 (2021: $2,000,000). 

5.3. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)  
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Land held for distribution at end of period 153   153 

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted 
in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. Amounts receivable for services 
are considered not impaired (i.e. there is no expected credit loss of the Holding Account). 
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5.4. Payables 
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Current       
Trade payables 4   - 
Other payables 1   4 
GST Payable -   25 
Accrued expenses 6   15 
Accrued salaries  -   3 
Total current payables 11   47 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Commission becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as 
settlement is generally within 30 days.  

5.5. Amounts due to Treasurer 
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Current 960   960 

The amount due to the Treasurer is in respect of a Treasurer’s Advance. Although no interest is charged on 
the outstanding amount, the carrying amount is equivalent to fair value. 
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6. Financing 
This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cash flows of 
the Commission. 

  Note 
Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 
Capital commitments 6.2 

6.1. Cash and Cash Equivalents  
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Current non-restricted cash and cash equivalents 52   70 
        
Non-Royalties for Regions fund restricted cash       
Batavia Coast Marina Redevelopment  476   476 
Mid West Unit 6     
Kalbarri Tourism Recovery from TC Seroja 179    - 
Regional and Remote Renewable Energy Power Solutions Community Benefits 
Fund   -   86 
Royalties for Regions Fund Projects Restricted cash       
Regional Grant Scheme 12   18 
Current restricted cash and cash equivalents 673   580 
        
Total cash and cash equivalents 725   650 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash 
equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or 
less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 

6.2. Capital Commitments 
There are no known capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the 
amounts reported in the financial statements (2021: None). 
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7. Financial instruments and Contingencies 
  Note 
Financial instruments 7.1 
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 7.2 

7.1. Financial Instruments 
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end 
of the reporting period are: 

  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 725   650 
Financial assets at amortised cost (a) 154   428 
Total financial assets 879   1,078 
        
Financial liabilities       
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (b) 971   982 
Total financial liabilities 971   982 

(a) The amount of Financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 

(b) The amount of Financial liabilities at amortised cost excludes GST payable to the ATO (statutory payable). 

7.2. Contingent assets and liabilities  
Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but are disclosed 
and, if quantifiable, are measured at the best estimate.  

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.  

There were no contingent assets or liabilities which would affect the Commission at the end of June 2022 
(2021: None). 

8. Other Disclosures  
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other 
pronouncements, for the understanding of this financial report. 

  Note 
Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 8.1 
Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 8.2 
Key management personnel 8.3 
Related party transactions 8.4 
Related bodies 8.5 
Affiliated bodies 8.6 
Special purpose accounts 8.7 
Remuneration of auditors 8.8 
Equity 8.9 
Supplementary financial information 8.10 
Explanatory statement 8.11 

8.1. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period  
There were no events occurring after the reporting period date that impact on the financial statements. 
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8.2. Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 
The following standards are operative for reporting periods ended on or after 30 June 2022: 

• AASB 1060 – General Purpose Financial Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-
Profit Tier 2 Entities 

• AASB 2020-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Insurance Contracts  

• AASB 2020-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions: 
Tier 2 Disclosures 

• AASB 2021-1 – Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition to Tier 2: Simplified 
Disclosures for Not-for-Profit Entities 

• AASB 2021-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 
beyond 30 June 2021 

The Commission considers the above standards do not have a material impact on the Commission.  

8.3. Key management personnel  
The Commission has determined key management personnel to include the members of the 
accountable authority, senior officers of the Commission and the Minister that the Commission assists. 
The Commission does not incur expenditures to compensate Ministers and those disclosures may be 
found in the Annual Report on State Finances.  

The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for members of the 
accountable authority and senior officers of the Commission for the reporting period are presented 
within the following bands: 

Compensation band ($) 2022   2021 
Compensation of members of the accountable authority       
40,001 - 50,000 1   1 
30,001 - 40,000 1   1 
0 - 10,000 5   5 
        
Compensation of senior officers ($)       
250,001 – 260,000 1  - 
240,001 - 250,000  -   1 
160,001 – 170,000  1    - 
100,001 - 110,000  -   1 
        
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Short-term employee benefits 441   335 
Post-employment benefits 45   28 
Other long-term benefits 39   11 
Total compensation for members of the accountable authority and 
senior officers 525   374 

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of senior 
officers. 
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8.4. Related party transactions 
The Commission is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia.  

Related parties of the Commission include: 

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entitles; 

• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities; 

• other agencies and statutory authorities, including related bodies, that are included in the whole of 
government consolidated financial statements (i.e. wholly-owned public sector entities); 

• associates and joint ventures, of a wholly-owned public sector entity; and 

• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB). 

Material transactions with other related entities  
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Commission there were no other related party transactions 
that involved key management personnel and/or their close family members and/or their controlled (or jointly 
controlled) entities. 

8.5. Related bodies  
The Commission had no related bodies during the reporting period. 

8.6.  Affiliated bodies  
The Commission had no affiliated bodies during the reporting period. 

8.7. Special purpose accounts  
The Commission had no special purpose accounts during the reporting period. 

8.8. Remuneration of auditors 
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as 
follows: 

  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Auditing the accounts, financial statements, controls, and key performance 
indicators  -   26 

 
The Auditor General has dispensed with the audit for the year ending 30 June 2022 under section 14 of the 
Auditor General Act 2006. 

8.9. Equity  
  2022   2021 
  $'000   $'000 
Contributed equity       
Balance at start of year 356   356 
Balance at end of period  356   356 
        
Asset revaluation surplus       
Balance at start of period  1,279   1,279 
Net revaluation increments /(decrements)       
Land 240     
Balance at end of period  1,519   1,279 

8.10. Supplementary financial information 
(a) Write-offs  
There were no write-offs during the financial year.  
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(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes  
There were no losses of public money and public and other property during the financial year. 

(c) Gift of public property  
There were no gifts of public property during the financial year. 

8.11. Explanatory statement 
The Commission is exempt from TI 945 Explanatory Statement as their Total Cost of Services is below $10 
million for the two most recent consecutive comparative periods. 
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MID WEST DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022

CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are
relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Mid West Development
Commission’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Mid West
Development Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

ROB HOUWEN
CHAIRMAN
20 September 2022 

NILS HAY
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
20 September 2022 
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Detailed information in support of  
Key Performance Indicators
1.  Relationship to Government policy

The Mid West Development Commission’s outcome is to coordinate and promote an environment that is 
conducive to the balanced economic and social development of the Mid West region.  This aligns with the 
State Government’s goals, particularly:

• ‘WA Jobs Plan: local manufacturing and production, creating Western Australian jobs and training 
for the jobs of the future’; and

• ‘Growing our communities: protecting our environment with thriving suburbs and regions’.

2.  Key Effectiveness Indicators

The Commission’s measures its effectiveness indicators through an annual client perceptions survey, 
conducted by an independent market research company.  MWDC uses this information assess the 
effectiveness of its contact with businesses and the benefits derived by clients. 

The Commission works to develop and support an environment conducive to the balanced economic 
and social development of the Mid West region. The Commission’s success at this results in positive client 
impacts  including helping to reduce obstacles to growth, develop new business opportunities, increase 
trade activity and retain staff / expand employment opportunities. 

Clients were sent an email invitation to complete the 2022 satisfaction survey online.  Both online self 
completion and telephone interviews were used to obtain a total of 124 client responses from the 525 key 
clients surveyed, representing a response rate of 23.6%.  This results in a maximum standard error ratio of 
+/- 7.7% at the 95% confidence level.

81.1% of clients surveyed believe that MWDC makes a positive contribution towards economic 
development in the Mid West.
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Client Perceptions Survey findings are summarised below.

SURVEY QUESTION
Clients agreeing that 
the Commission:

Actual
2018-19

Actual 
2019-20

Actual 
2020-21

Target
2021-22

Actual 
2021-22

Reduced obstacles to 
economic growth and 
employment

48% n/a* 46% 50% 20%

Contributed to the 
development of a new 
business opportunity

63% n/a* 66% 65% 66%

Contributed to more trade 
activity 31% n/a* 29% 40% 46%

Contributed to the retention 
of staff and/or expansion of 
employment opportunities

33% n/a* 35% 40% 49%

* Due to COVID-19 restrictions and pursuant to Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 904 para (3)(i) the Commission 
sought and obtained an exemption from reporting the key effectiveness indicator for the 2019-20 
financial year. 

3.  Key Efficiency Indicators

The Commission calculates its efficiency indicators from net cost for each of the service areas after 
excluding grants and subsidies expense.  The costs for each service area comprise both direct expenditure 
and an allocation of general costs and overheads.  The total cost of all Services (including Grants and 
Subsidies expense) is reported in the Commission’s Statement of Comprehensive Income as the 
Total Cost of Services. 

Performance Measures Actual 
2020-21

Target
2021-22

Actual
2021-22

Average cost per hour $90 $153 $182

Comments
The 2022 actual average cost per hour is above target, mainly due to the total hours worked being 22% 
below target resulting in the average cost per hour being 19% above target.  The reduction in total hours 
worked is due to staff vacancies throughout the financial year.  These vacancies are expected to be filled  in 
the 2022-23 financial year, which should result in an improvement in the efficiency indicator going forward.
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Ministerial Directives
No Ministerial Directives were received during the financial year.

Other Financial Disclosures
Pricing Policies of Services Provided

The Commission does not charge for services and this reporting requirement, therefore, does not apply.

Capital works

Capital projects incomplete
The Commission did not have any incomplete capital works projects at the end of 2021-22.

Capital projects complete
The Commission did not complete any capital works projects during 2021-22.

Employment and industrial relations

Staff profile
Following the Machinery of Government changes in 2017, the Commission’s employees excluding the 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) were transferred to DPIRD (effective 1 July 2017).  By way of ‘Resources 
received free of charge’, the Commission was provided with resources to deliver the 2021-22 Business Plan.  
Employees transferred to DPIRD are included in the DPIRD annual report for 2021-22.  The Commission 
relocated to government owned premises in May 2018.

A Service Level Agreement (SLA) was established between DPIRD and all RDCs to define the services that 
DPIRD will provide to RDCs and in so doing, clarify aspects of the inter-relationship of the two primary 
entities.  DPIRD remains employer of all staff, but day-to-day operational responsibility for staff working 
in Regional Development Commissions has been formally delegated to the RDC CEOs.  CEOs now have 
greater role in staff recruitment processes.

2020-21 2021-22

Full-time permanent 1.0 1.0

Full-time contract 0 0

Part-time measured on an FTE basis 0 0

On secondment 0 0

1.0 1.0
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Staff Development

The Commission has a commitment to the development of its employees.  Our strategy is to build a 
highly skilled and professional workforce and as a result we are building a strong and capable team with 
the ability to adapt to the growth and diversity being experienced in the Mid West.  

Various industry specific training and professional development was undertaken as opportunity arose.

Workers Compensation

No workers compensation claims have been made within the Commission during 2021-22.

Governance Disclosures
Contracts with senior officers

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior officers, or firms 
of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have substantial interests, had 
any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Commission and senior officers.

Unauthorised use of Credit Cards

Following Machinery of Government Changes, only the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Executive Assistant to the Chief Executive Officer of the Commission hold corporate credit cards where 
their functions warrant usage of this facility.  During 2021-22 there were no instances of inadvertent 
corporate credit card utilisation for purchases of a private nature.

2021-22 
$

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure for the reporting period -

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled by the due date  
(within 5 working days) -

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled after the period  
(after 5 working days) -

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure outstanding at balance date -

Insurance Premiums Paid

The amount of any insurance premium paid to indemnify any ‘director’ (as defined in Part 3 of the 
Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996) against a liability incurred under sections 13 or 
14 of that Act.  MWDC paid $4,885 (inc GST) in premiums to indemnify MWDC directors (as defined in 
Part 3 of the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996), against a liability incurred under 
sections 13 or 14 of that Act.  
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Board and Committee Remuneration
In compliance with Premier's Circular 2010/02 – State Government Boards and Committees, the 
Commission provided the following remuneration to its Board members during 2021-22.

Position Name Type of 
remuneration

Period of 
membership

Gross / actual 
remuneration  

2021-22 
financial year

Chair Mr Rob Houwen
Fee

Superannuation
1 January 2022 
- 30 June 2022

$24,153.40
$2,415.30

Member Cr Emma Foulkes-Taylor
Fee and motor 

vehicle allowance
Superannuation

1 July 2021 
- 30 June 2022

$8,158.46
$527.40

Member Cr Hayley Wells
Fee and motor 

vehicle allowance
Superannuation

1 July 2021 
- 30 June 2022

$2,834.60 
$245.30

Member Ms Caris Collard
Fee

Superannuation
1 May 2022 

- 30 June 2022
$403.00 
$40.30

Member Mr Andrew Greaves
Fee

Superannuation
5 January 2022 
- 30 June 2022

$3,005.76 
$285.60

Member Mr Craig Patterson
Fee

Superannuation
1 July 2021 

- 20 July 2021
$2,668.07

$266.81

Member Cr Carol Minney Motor vehicle 
allowance

1 July 2021  
- 11 February 

2022

$3,956.96 
$120.90

Chair Mr Tim Glenister
Fee

Superannuation
1 July 2021 

- 30 April 2022
$44,973.78
$4,366.30

Member Cr Karen Chappel
Fee and motor 

vehicle allowance
Superannuation

1 July 2021 
- 30 June 2022

$6,817.20
$457.80

Total $105,696.94

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of 
members of the accountable authority.
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Other Legal Requirements
Expenditure on advertising, market research, polling and direct mail

In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Commission incurred the following 
expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising.  

Total expenditure for 2021-22 was $5,356  as follows:

Class of expenditure Organisation Total expenditure 
2021-22 (inc GST)

Advertising agencies The West Australian Newspapers $428

Market research agencies Perth Market Research $4,928
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes

In 2007 the Commission, in consultation with the Disability Services Commission and the public, 
developed and submitted a Disability Action and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) in compliance with the 2004 
amendment to the Disability Services Act 1993.  It should also be noted that DPIRD have developed 
their DAIP for the period 2018-2023, which covers the entire Department, including the Regional 
Development Commissions.

The previous MWDC 2017-21 DAIP was successfully implemented and the following principles have been 
followed during 2021-22 to continue to address the seven desired DAIP outcomes:

1. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the services of, and 
any events organised by the Commission.
• Assessment of all Commission events as to their accessibility by all people.
• Amended all grant agreements and contacts to include reference to the Commission’s DAIP.
• Reviewed and modified policies to include relevant strategies under the DAIP.

2. People with disabilities will have the same opportunities as other people to access the buildings and 
other facilities of the Commission.
• Increased staff awareness of issues of accessibility.

3. People with disabilities receive information from the Commission in a format that will enable them 
to access the information as readily as other people are able to access it.
• Provision of all communications in clear and concise language, avoiding jargon.

4. People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of the 
Commission as other people receive from the Commission.
• Disability Services Commission information circulated to staff when issued and employee / Board 

member inductions cover awareness of MWDC DAIP.

5. People with disabilities have the same opportunities to make complaints to the Commission.
• Alternative formats provided wherever the Commission’s grievance procedures are displayed.

6. People with disabilities will have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any public 
consultation by the Commission.
• All venues assessed for accessibility when arranging public consultation events.
• Consideration to be made whether any target groups would benefit from public consultation to 

encourage participation.
• Ongoing assessment of accessibility of venues when arranging public consultation events.

7. Employment – People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to obtain and 
maintain employment with a public sector.
• Vacancy advertisements now include a statement that MWDC is an equal opportunity employer.
• Special needs of new employees are identified and any adjustments will be made to the 

workplace and work practices where necessary prior to and as soon after as can be reasonably 
expected after induction depending on the nature of the adjustments.

A copy of the DPIRD Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2018–2023 can be found on the Commission’s 
website and intranet.
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Compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes

Public Sector Management Act Section 31(1):

In the administration of the Mid West Development Commission, I have complied with the 
Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian Public Sector 
Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct.

I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and also conducted appropriate 
internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement made in 1 is correct.

The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes for the 
reporting period are:

 Number lodged:     Nil
 
 Number of breaches found, including details  
 of multiple breaches per application:  Nil
 
 Number still under review:    Nil

 Anne Finlay
 A / Chief Executive Officer
 20 September 2022

Recordkeeping plans

As required by the State Records Act 2000, the Commission has an approved Records Keeping Plan (RKP).

Periodical record keeping training programs through the Commission’s formal monthly staff meetings, 
as well as an induction program for new employees address the roles of staff and their responsibilities in 
regard to compliance with the Commission’s RKP.

The Records Team within the Commission review the efficiency and effectiveness of its record keeping 
training program regularly, to ensure that key record systems objectives and record keeping practices 
are being met.  

A Commission Record Keeping Manual is in place to assist the Records Team to formalise and structure 
the training program for staff.

Substantive equality

As outlined in the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-23: Implementation of the 
Policy Framework for Substantive Equality, this reporting requirement only applies to participating 
agencies.  The Commission is not a participant and this requirement.
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Government Policy Requirements

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management

Following the creation of the new DPIRD, the Commission relocated to the former Department of 
Agriculture and Food WA offices in May 2018.  

Through representation on DPIRD’s Regional Workplace Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) 
Committee, MWDC strives to ensure a safe working environment.  OSH issues (incidents, risks and 
hazards) that cannot be resolved by staff in the first instance are reported to a manager or supervisor, 
and if necessary progressed through the ‘resolution of issues’ process (as per policy).  

OSH policies are continually reviewed and monitored as required by changing needs and working 
environment.

Staff are made aware of OSH policies and procedures at induction and there are continuing awareness 
sessions during monthly meetings as necessary.

The Mid West Development Commission is compliant with the injury management requirements of the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.  The Commission’s annual performance 
report for 2021-22 against the following indicators: 

Indicator Target 2021-22 Actual 2021-22

Number of fatalities Zero (0) Zero (0)

Lost time injury / diseases (LTI/D) incidence rate Zero (0) Zero (0)

Lost time injury severity rate Zero (0) Zero (0)

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:
(i) within 13 weeks
(ii) within 26 weeks

0%
0%

0%
0%

Percentage of managers trained in occupational 
safety, health and injury management responsibilities ≥80% 0%

Government Building Training Policy

As outlined in the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2015-02: Government Building Training Policy 
this reporting requirement only applies to State Government building, construction and maintenance 
contracts that have a labour component of $2 million and over.  The Commission did not issue contracts 
in scope of the policy and is therefore not required to report against the policy.
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CONTACT US
Mid West Development Commission
20 Gregory Street 
Geraldton, Western Australia, 6530
PO Box 110 
Geraldton, Western Australia, 6531

Phone: +61 (0)8 9956 8555
Email:  info@mwdc.wa.gov.au
Web: www.mwdc.wa.gov.au

The Mid West Development Commission would like to acknowledge the following individuals and 
organisations for the use of their photography within the Commission’s Annual Report: 
 
Page  Subject; Source

Cover  Shore Leave Festival Long Table Lunch, Abrolhos Islands; West Beach Studio
2-3  Star Dreaming
4-5  Abrolhos Islands aerial; Travis Petford Photography 
6  Rob Houwen, Chair MWDC; ZEN Events and Photography
10  Hon. Alannah MacTiernan MLC,  
   Minister for Regional Development; Department of Premier and Cabinet
11  Pink Lake; Tourism Western Australia
12  Chapman Valley farming; Travis Petford Photography
17  Shore Leave Festival Beach Price Markets; ZEN Events and Photography
18-19  Welcome to Country, Experience WA Japan Tour; Osprey Creative
20-21  Shore Leave Festival Midwest Paddock to Plate; Shot by Thom
22  Space; Star Dreaming
23  SKA; Star Dreaming
24-25  Post Office Island aerial, Shipwreck Hunters Australia
26  Kalbarri, Experience WA Japan Tour; Osprey Creative
27  Osprey, Point Moore; Ginger WA
28-29  Abrolhos Islands coral; Shipwreck Hunters Australia
30-31  Wooleen Station; Rob Mulally and Georgia Rickard
32-33  Kalbarri Skywalk
34  Yarra Yarra Lakes, Carnamah; Ginger WA
36  Greenough Solar Farm; Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science and Innovation
38  Becci Davidson (MWDC) and Mark Lommers (DUG Technology) 
40  Wooleen Station; Rob Mulally and Georgia Rickard
42-43  Star Dreaming
44  Welcome to Country; ZEN Events and Photography
45  Mustering cattle at Windimurra Station; Debbie Dowden

PHOTO SOURCES
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46  Luka Gray (Yamatji Southern Regional Corporation), Neil Foster (Iluka Resources) and   
   Raylene Bellotie (Waalitj Foundation), Aboriginal Business Forum;  
   ZEN Events and Photography
47  Roanna Edwards, Aboriginal Business Forum; ZEN Events and Photography
48-49  Marine Terrace, Geraldton; Osprey Creative
50  Geraldton aerial; Our Law Pty Ltd
51  Shore Leave Festival closing celebrations; ZEN Events and Photography
52  Hon. Alannah MacTiernan, Aboriginal Business Forum; ZEN Events and Photography
53  Digital farm tower, Moresby
55  Hospitality training , Central Regional TAFE
56-57  Narngulu; Iluka Resources
58  Western Power
60  Wooleen Station; Rob Mulally and Georgia Rickard
61  Narngulu; Iluka Resources
62-63  Shore Leave Festival Welcome to Port; ZEN Events and Photography
64  Rob Houwen (MWDC), Budget Breakfast; Mid West Chamber of Commerce and Industry
66  RED Grants announcement, Fenix Newhaul
69  Lara Dalton MLA, Meg Hinchcliffe (mother), Lucas Stanford, Gemma McKenzie (mother),  
   Elenor Stanford, Lily McKenzie, Zoey Jones and Kiara Jones (mother), Wandina Play Group
71  71  Abrolhos Islands rock lobster; Shipwreck Hunters Australia
72-73  Sunset over grain storage facility; Ginger WA
77  Batavia Longboat; Ginger WA
88  Mick Davy Butchers
89  Geraldton aerial; Our Law Pty Ltd
93   Wreath flowers; Yalgoo
94-95  Shore Leave Festival Beach Price Markets; shot by Thom
99  Bao Nguyen, Sun City Produce
103  Shore Leave Festival Long Table Lunch, Abrolhos Islands; Shot by Thom
107  Kalbarri, Experience WA Japan Tour; Osprey Creative
108-109  Eneabba pit; Iluka Resources
110  Shore Leave Festival Long Table Lunch, Abrolhos Islands; Shot by Thom
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